# From East with Love: Dissecting Pro-China Bias in Czech and Slovak Alternative Media

Veronika Blablová, Peter Dubóczi, Pavel Havlíček, Matej Šimalčík, Ivana Karásková, Barbara Kelemen, Michaela Ružičková









# From East with Love: Dissecting Pro-China Bias in Czech and Slovak Alternative Media

Veronika Blablová, Peter Dubóczi, Pavel Havlíček, Matej Šimalčík, Ivana Karásková, Barbara Kelemen, Michaela Ružičková

# FROM EAST WITH LOVE: DISSECTING PRO-CHINA BIAS IN CZECH AND SLOVAK ALTERNATIVE MEDIA

### Analysis

April 2022

Editor – Ivana Karásková

*Authors* – Veronika Blablová, Peter Dubóczi, Pavel Havlíček, Ivana Karásková, Barbara Kelemen, Michaela Ružičková, Matej Šimalčík

Citation – Ivana Karásková (ed.), From East with Love: Dissecting Pro-China Bias in Czech and Slovak Alternative Media (Prague, Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2022).

Data analysis - To access all data, visit us at www.mapinfluence.eu.

*Acknowledgment* – The authors wish to acknowledge the help of the following research assistants during the process of data gathering and the media discourse analysis (in alphabetic order): Pavel Kameník, Filip Šebok.

The publication was prepared within the project **MapInfluenCE** (previously known as ChinfluenCE), that focuses on both China and Russia's influence in Central Europe, specifically within the Visegrád nations of the Czech Republic, Poland, Hungary and Slovakia. The comparative nature of the project enables identification of the strategies and tactics employed by China and Russia and discern the convergences and divergences in their respective approaches. The project is designed and run by the Association for International Affairs (AMO), a Prague-based foreign policy think tank and NGO. The preparation of this paper was supported by a grant from the National Endowment for Democracy (NED).

Proofreading – Kevin Curran Typesetting – Zdeňka Plocrová Print – Vydavatelství KUFR, s.r.o. – tiskárna

ASSOCIATION FOR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS (AMO)

Žitná 27/608 CZ 110 00 Praha 1 Tel.: +420 224 813 460 info@amo.cz www.amo.cz

© AMO 2022 ISBN 978-80-88470-03-8 (print version) ISBN 978-80-88470-04-5 (pdf version)

# **Table of Contents**

Summary	7
Introduction	9
Research design and methodology	10
The Czech Republic: Alternative equals pro-Kremlin?	12
5G: Enter the 'experts'	13
Chinese investment: Too much, too little, too bad?	17
Hong Kong: Vexed by the city	20
Xinjiang: A lost wor(l)d?	23
Taiwan: The new pressure point	25
Conclusion	28
Slovakia: Propaganda hidden in a plain sight	30
5G discussion: Reduced to China-US conflict	31
Chinese investment: Caught in the crosshairs of superpower rivalry?	35
Hong Kong: A "color revolution" and an exercise in whataboutism	37
Xinjiang: From the plight of Uyghurs to US-China contest	41
Taiwan: A star outshining Beijing?	42
Conclusion	44
Authors	46
About MapInfluenCE	47
About AMO	48
Footnotes	49

# Summary

- → Even prior to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, a significant confluence of Russian and Chinese narratives was observable in alternative media outlets across Central Europe.
- → This analysis focuses on China-related narratives which were disseminated by the six most-read online alternative media understood as spreading pro-Kremlin narratives in the Czech Republic and Slovakia. The study analyzed Sino-Russian narrative confluence on five specific topic clusters: 5G, Chinese investment, Hong Kong protests, Xinjiang, and Taiwan.
- → While China and Russia's external propaganda work differently, following distinct objectives and tactics, the convergence of messaging through similar channels and matching audiences found in Central Europe warrants attention.
- → Alternative media closely reflect mainstream media discourse on the issues of Chinese investment and 5G, as identified by previous MapInfluenCE studies, yet this study reveals that the discourse on Hong Kong and Taiwan issues often follows Chinese propaganda points and localizes the issue to domestic audiences. An example of that is the narrative comparing the status of Taiwan to the issue of "Sudetenland" present in Czech alternative media.
- → The analysis has shown that the proclaimed intention of the analyzed alternative media to publish 'alternative points of view' also translates into publishing Chinese party-state's views.
- → The analyzed alternative media do not use manipulative techniques that are obvious at first sight. Instead, they employ subtle strategies, such as smuggling in specific quotes out of context, muddling facts, giving added prominence to Chinese and Russian voices, and deliberately omitting crucial information.
- The analyzed alternative media often cited foreign voices at the expense of local perspectives. Moreover, the quoted experts were often of dubious background.
- → In the Czech Republic, Sputnik predominantly covered international events without a local angle, which may be explained by the tendency to reprint articles from its other language versions. At the same time, Parlamentní listy

provided more localized discussion, while Aeronet only occasionally commented on the issues in extensive commentaries.

- → In Slovakia, most of the content of the alternative media was sourced from the local press agencies which allowed the media to hide articles exhibiting pro-Chinese narratives, disinformation and conspiracies. In several cases, the information was directly reprinted from official Chinese or Russian sources.
- → Articles based upon Russian sources (e.g. Russia Today, Sputnik, or TASS agency) often discussed the relationship between Russia and China, describing it as mutually beneficial and as a counterweight to the Western liberal world order.
- → Chinese sources quoted by the Slovak alternative outlets included the Global Times, Xinhua, and China Daily. Russian sources which were reprinted were RT (former Russia Today), the Strategic Culture Foundation, Politikus, RBC, larex, and the Czech localized version of Sputnik. Therefore, in addition to articles from Slovak press agencies, the content of the selected media also consists of content taken over from Russian state-owned and controlled media or from Kremlin-friendly organizations that can be considered extended hands of Russian interests.
- → Discourse on Hong Kong largely carried Beijing's communicated position, which consists of claims of meddling by "external forces" in China's internal affairs and objections against "color revolutions."
- → Even though Chinese sources were at times used by the Slovak alternative outlets, they did not feature as prominently as Russian sources. This suggests the Slovak alternative media scene is not particularly inclined to promote pro-China messaging (this does not imply that such articles do not appear, though).
- → A persistent trend was mentioning the conflict between the US and China, illustrated for instance by trade war, the restrictions on Chinese companies, putting Huawei on the US "blacklist" or the US relations with Taiwan. The articles discussing these topics were mostly favoring China. This suggests that, for the Slovak and also Czech alternative media, the China topic is being instrumentalized in their crusade against the US and the global West.

9

Media represent a crucial tool for providing frameworks for general interpretation and understanding of events and the dissemination of information. Thus, media not only report about social reality, but they help shape reality. Especially on remote subjects, detached from personal experience of the reader, such as the news from distant countries, the audience relies on impartial and factual reporting of media. Not surprisingly, given the role of media as shapers of local perceptions, various actors, starting with political and economic elites and ending with foreign powers, have long sought access to media in order to influence and manipulate narratives. In Central Europe, both Russia and China tick the box of such powers. Their influence efforts, however, have been previously analyzed separately, leaving the question of whether Russia and China coordinate in spreading narratives largely unanswered.

The series of previous analyses conducted by MapInfluenCE revealed a significant convergence of Chinese and Russian narrative efforts in Central and Eastern Europe. In Bulgaria, Russia Today and China Today have shared not only the office but even a publisher.<sup>1</sup> Russian disinformation servers in the Visegrád countries increasingly defend Huawei and help spread disinformation advantageous to Beijing, a trend observable in the cases of the Hong Kong protests and the nature of the outbreak of COVID-19. These outlets also grant ever greater space to Chinese ambassadors and officials to publish their op-eds<sup>2</sup> and present official Chinese talking points, unchallenged.

While China and Russia's influence efforts operate differently, following different objectives and tactics, the convergence of messaging through similar channels and to matching audiences in Central Europe warrants attention.

This analysis focuses on China-related narratives which were disseminated by online alternative media understood as spreading pro-Kremlin narratives in two Central European nations, the Czech Republic and Slovakia. It seeks to answer crucial questions on the extent to which Chinese and Russian narratives overlap, which factors allow mutual reinforcement, as well as similarities and dissimilarities found in their respective media strategies.

The paper analyzes Sino-Russian media confluence on five specific topics (5G, Chinese investment, Hong Kong protests, Xinjiang, and Taiwan) in order to determine positions of pro-Kremlin media on China. It provides a comprehensive and unique analysis of key China-focused topics and sheds light on the logic of functioning of the alternative media ecosystems.

The analysis links to previous studies published by MapInfluenCE on China's image in Central European media (2018),<sup>3</sup> media coverage of Chinese investment and 5G networks buildup (2020),<sup>4</sup> and a special paper on Chinese propaganda and disinformation in Central Europe (2020).<sup>5</sup> This analysis combines the know-how used previously in mapping Chinese narratives in traditional media in V4 countries with specific knowledge of the Czech and Slovak alternative media environment which spreads pro-Kremlin narratives in the region. In recent years, research on Czech and Slovak alternative media has attracted considerable attention from local researchers. This influx of attention has resulted in a broadened knowledge of, for example, manipulative techniques applied by alternative media<sup>6</sup> and the functioning of the alternative media websites, including the motivation based on its profits from advertising.<sup>7</sup> Nonetheless, it is crucial to note that none of the previous studies have been devoted to the analysis of the China-Russia nexus thus far. Therefore, this paper focuses on the currently under-researched area of media confluence between two authoritarian regimes using reporting of alternative media outlets targeting the Czech and Slovak audiences for the case study.

To determine which online media outlets should be analyzed, MapInfluenCE created a list of alternative media utilizing already available studies and databases. The Czech list merged information provided by Atlas Konspirací<sup>8</sup> and Prague Security Studies Institute (PSSI).<sup>9</sup> In the case of Slovakia, the initial selection was carried out on the basis of the public database of the Konšpirátori.sk<sup>10</sup> watchdog initiative, as well as reports from the Analytical Unit of the Ministry of Defense of the Slovak Republic.<sup>11</sup>

It is important to mention that the lists do not employ a single methodology and differ in categorizing the alternative media. These differing methods include labeling outputs as "disinformation and conspiracy media," "pro-Kremlin," or simply terming them "anti-system websites." For the analysis, MapInfluenCE decided to apply the term "alternative media" to differentiate them from the mainstream media as the selected media often refer to themselves as "alternative."<sup>12,13</sup> This term is broadly defined in previous research as "media that challenge the established channels and put forward alternative approaches and perspectives that contradict or diverge from an experienced dominant discourse in the mainstream media."<sup>14</sup> The "alternative" nature of the media can be demonstrated not only in reference to the published content but also the ways the news are produced, often utilizing clickbait and generally lacking in compliance with the ethical and unbiased journalistic work and transparency standards.

In addition to the above-mentioned definition framework, the specifics of selected alternative media also include a long-term non-critical adoption of some pro-Russian and anti-system narratives. In both Czech Republic and Slovakia, the disinformation ecosystem seems relatively diverse and well established. There are around 70 prominent online information sites that may be labeled as spreading information often aligned with the Kremlin-friendly narratives.<sup>15</sup> This "information laundering,"<sup>16</sup> hiding of original sources combined with the building of networks to systematically spread disinformation, seems to be one of the trends of recent years.<sup>17</sup>

While MapInfluenCE acknowledges instances of pro-Kremlin narratives being found in the selected media, the problem, however, lies in the absence of evidence (with one exception) which would directly point to the links of the media to Russia. Thus, at this point, it is possible to talk only about alternative media's preference for Russia over the West. Nevertheless, the media frequently take over statements by Russian government officials, show anti-systemic sentiments, and engage in non-factual criticism of Western structures such as the EU and NATO – conveying messages and narratives which are in line with Russia's information operations and interests.<sup>18</sup>

The resulting list of alternative online media was narrowed down to the three outlets most popular among the local audiences.<sup>19</sup> MapInfluenCE then searched for reporting on five China-related topics which appeared in the alternative media outlets in the period from January 2019 to June 2021. Topics selected for the analysis included Chinese involvement in the 5G networks build-up, Chinese investment in the Czech Republic and Slovakia, and three topics specifically sensitive for the Chinese leadership and frequently debated in Czech and Slovak media – Hong Kong, Xinjiang, and Taiwan.

The resulting dataset consists of 1,484 articles published by the Czech alternative media outlets and 815 texts published in Slovakia. The articles were filtered, using a specific set of keywords, in Newton Media Search media archive. The comprehensiveness of the dataset is thus dependent on the search engines used by the database. Subsequently, the filtered articles were assessed individually, omitting irrelevant media outputs. The resulting dataset was coded according to a number of criteria, including the type of the text (e.g., article, news, commentary, interview, reprinted article, etc.), sub-themes (topics discussed in relation to the main issue), and agenda-setters (authors of the texts and quoted individuals or institutions). The analysis considered the agenda-setters as presented by the media, with the stated affiliations and job occupations.

Owing to the specific characteristics of alternative media, authors of this study created specific categories of "reprinted articles" and "commented news." The first refers to articles reprinted from other media without further editorial value. The latter refers to a reprinted article that was further commented on by the authors to provide insights and reactions to the information presented by the original article.

Another layer of the analysis focused on the identification of sentiment on a three-point scale, coding the media outputs as positive, negative, or neutral towards China. The sentiment expressed towards China was coded solely on the basis of the parts of the texts attributed to the author, omitting quotes and comments provided by external agenda-setters.

# The Czech Republic: Alternative equals pro-Kremlin?

Veronika Blablová, Pavel Havlíček

MapInfluenCE analyzed three Czech alternative online media outlets - Parlamentní listy, Aeronet, and Sputnik. The three outlets were chosen based on their high level of popularity among the readers of alternative websites.

Unlike the other two alternative media outlets, Sputnik Czechia (in this chapter referred to only as Sputnik) is directly linked to the Russian state. It currently operates in 30 different languages, including Czech and Slovak,<sup>20</sup> so it was of particular interest as the outlet conveying pro-Kremlin narratives.

Parlamentní listy has been the most prominent and widely read alternative information source in the Czech Republic, serving as a gateway between the mainstream and fringe information ecosystems. With a monthly readership reaching into the high-hundred-thousands,<sup>21</sup> it is certainly the best established and most profitable media source. Parlamentní listy often reaches out to politicians and political parties, offering a platform to share their views and promote readership. This is probably the most controversial element since the outlet is often the only site where the most fringe voices receive such a prominent audience. The editorial policy is based on clickbait and, as such, often attracts highly polarizing or even self-contradictory views. Even the server's owner admitted that "mistakes" frequently occur, and that the media is mostly motivated by the desire to maximize profit.<sup>22</sup>

Aeronet, the third media outlet selected for analysis, has a high level of conspiratorial content focusing on complex and often convoluted anti-US messaging. Its author "VK," which refers to the "Principal" or "Head of Carousel," is signed under the overwhelming majority of written contributions. He described his work as "guerilla journalism" that is supposed to open people's minds and challenge the supposedly US and Western-driven discourse in the country.<sup>23</sup> The expansion of the outlet is connected to the start of the Russian aggression against Ukraine in 2014 when Aeronet doubled down on the heavily pro-Kremlin and anti-Western rhetoric and stepped up its activities.

The three alternative media selected for analysis combine different approaches, specifically click-bait strategy and business-oriented logic (e.g. Parlamentní listy), weak editorial policy, conspiratorial and sensational content explaining the world order (Aeronet), and direct pro-Kremlin propaganda (Sputnik).

The analysis revealed that a significant portion of the outputs published by the three alternative media were only reprints of articles, commentaries, tweets, or Facebook posts lacking any editorial input or context. It is possible to identify certain patterns showing that some websites, namely Vasevec.cz (website initiated by Jiří Paroubek, former Czech Prime Minister), were reprinted regularly. Otherwise, the

sources of the majority of the reprinted articles seem to be chosen on a random basis and did not appear systematically. While Sputnik reprinted several articles from its other language versions, including Russian, it also used articles published in Western mainstream media such as The New York Times, Washington Post, etc. Unlike in the case of two previous media sites, Aeronet seems to operate on a different model where all its content was "home-grown" with its editor-in-chief "VK" authoring most of the content on China.

The analyzed media also often refrained from mentioning the text's author. This is crucial to note as the methodological approach also focuses on the role of agenda-setters, including journalists, as they play an important role in framing the discourse, in terms of choosing the reporting angles, quotes, and expert comments. Since the authors were rarely mentioned, their contributions could not be analyzed in detail. It is evident that the functioning of alternative media to a large extent erases the boundary between journalists and other contributors as the media publish and reprint commentaries and blog posts authored, for example, by politicians and economists, sometimes without indicating their affiliations and expertise.

Additionally, the analyzed media often employ a clickbait strategy, motivating the readers to click and view their website via using appealing, shocking, or otherwise intriguing headlines. This tendency applies to the majority of articles, including the ones categorized as news despite lacking any sentimental value. The headlines also often do not necessarily correspond with the content of the actual article.

### **5G: ENTER THE 'EXPERTS'**

The discussion on potential Chinese involvement in the 5G buildup in the Czech Republic was depicted in 290 articles on the analyzed alternative media websites, comprising 168 outputs in Parlamentní listy, 108 in Sputnik, and 14 in Aeronet. These media outputs were predominantly reprinted articles (33 percent) and news (32 percent), followed by commentaries (12 percent), interviews (10 percent) articles (7 percent), and other types (6 percent).

MapInfluenCE previously conducted an analysis of narratives on 5G buildup in mainstream media allowing for a comparison.<sup>24</sup> Similar to mainstream media, the 5G issue was to a large extent synonymous with the Chinese company Huawei. ZTE, another Chinese company, was mentioned rather sparsely, usually as a contextual reference to another Chinese company. The key themes related to this issue, therefore, referred to the security risks and warnings issued in various countries, with particular attention paid to the United Kingdom<sup>25</sup> and Germany, and the Five Eyes (an intelligence alliance of Australia, Canada, New Zealand, United Kingdom, and the US). As in the mainstream media, articles focused on available strategies for 5G buildup and cooperation with partners, especially the US and the EU,<sup>26</sup> including the toolbox for 5G security. Consequently, the 5G issue was a significant point of discussion during Mike Pompeo's visit to the Czech Republic<sup>27</sup> and Andrej Babiš' visit to the US.<sup>28</sup>

The framing provided by the alternative media requires closer attention. Huawei was perceived as a security risk considerably less often - in 50 percent of all analyzed articles compared to 72 percent in the case of the mainstream media outputs published

### IMAGE 1: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO 5G ISSUE AND CHINA IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE CZECH MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



in 2019-2020. Instead, these media often chose to omit the contextual background and offered a reduced perspective of the Huawei issue, portraying it as part of the trade war between China and the US.<sup>29</sup> Such an oversimplification then left the reasoning leading to the adoption of measures unexplained, contributing to distorted impressions among readers.

Some authors argued that the US attempted to prevent China from being the leader in technology and therefore it issued the security warning against Huawei and decided to ask Canada to arrest Huawei FCO Meng Wanzhou.<sup>30,31</sup> Other articles reminded of the Snowden affair<sup>32</sup> and activities of the US intelligence<sup>33</sup> and suggested that China behaves in the same way as the US did in the past.<sup>34</sup> Other narratives emphasized the US pressure on its allies to refrain from cooperation with Huawei.<sup>35</sup> Comments on the Chinese involvement in the 5G buildup in the Czech Republic often provided an opportunity to reflect on attitudes of agenda-setters towards the US. As a result, such articles diverted the course of the debate towards the US and refrained from adequately addressing China.

Inevitably, the issue of 5G was frequently mentioned alongside another analyzed topic - the Chinese investment. These articles usually mentioned the Belt and Road Initiative, Czech President Miloš Zeman's visits to China and his comments on 5G, and potential China's involvement in a tender for nuclear power plant Dukovany-II. President Zeman also warned against China's reprisals due to the Czech negative stance on cooperation with Huawei, talking about the threat of Chinese divestment and negative impacts on Czech companies such as consumer loan provider Home Credit or car manufacturer Škoda with direct interests in China.<sup>36</sup> Thus, the frequent

co-occurrence of 5G and investment issues in the media debate on Czech-China relations may also be explained by these assumptions.

National Cyber and Information Security Agency (NÚKIB), which issued a security warning on Huawei in December 2018, was sometimes subjected to criticism from the alternative media. For example, the articles argued there was a lack of evidence for the NÚKIB's move.<sup>37,38</sup> The criticism also applied to the Czech Security Information Service (BIS), which frequently mentioned China in its security reports, and its Director Michal Koudelka who was labeled as a "security risk for the country" due to focus on China and Russia while omitting the supposed threats posed by the West.<sup>39</sup> The criticism of intelligence services was to a large extent driven by President Zeman, who has long been counted among the most vocal supporters of cooperation with China and Russia.

Another significant narrative identified in the articles referred to China's technological prowess, stressing the attractiveness of the country for researchers<sup>40</sup> and the unparalleled research potential of Huawei.<sup>41</sup> One article even mentioned that Huawei cell phones are among the most secure on the market as they cannot be infiltrated by intelligence agencies.<sup>42</sup> These excerpts show how cooperation with China is often depicted as a necessity due to its prowess in technological research and development, while the security risks are downplayed.

Besides these tendencies, MapInfluenCE identified crucial differences among the analyzed media. In general, Sputnik predominantly covered the international agenda concerning 5G, especially the rivalry between the US and China. It is also crucial to emphasize that Sputnik often omitted to mention the security warning issued by Czech authorities and instead stressed the role of the US intelligence services. This may be caused by Sputnik's tendency to reprint articles detached from the local debates.

Parlamentní listy, on the other hand, focused more attention on the domestic debate in the Czech Republic, often providing space for comments of Czech agenda-setters. It featured topics explaining the functioning of 5G and 5G buildup in the Czech Republic, for example, the 5G conference held in Prague,<sup>43</sup> lawsuits issued by Huawei,<sup>44</sup> cooperation between Huawei and PPF Group,<sup>45</sup> and Prime Minister Babiš meeting with the Chinese Ambassador to the Czech Republic following the security warning on Huawei.<sup>46</sup> Another interesting issue was the comparison of Russia and China and potential threats that they represent, with several agenda-setters determining China posed greater risks.<sup>47,48</sup> Notably, compared to the other analyzed media, Parlamentní listy endeavored to balance the discourse. For example, negative comments on China regarding abuse of technologies to gather data and categorize its population<sup>49</sup> were featured and space was provided to views supporting the stance presented by NÚKIB<sup>50</sup> and criticizing the pursuit of low-cost solutions to the detriment of security concerns.<sup>51</sup>

Compared to Sputnik and Parlamentní listy, Aeronet approached the 5G topic as a part of a larger analysis of the development in the world. Aeronet often emphasized its exclusive access to sources of information, allegedly also from the Chinese embassy in Prague,<sup>52</sup> and published exhaustive commentaries on the issue. For instance, Aeronet stated that it knew the content of the cybersecurity authority's (NÚKIB's) report,<sup>53</sup> despite the fact that the officials refrained from providing detailed information. It also warned of Huawei using arbitration against the Czech Republic to prevent other EU governments from "spreading US propaganda" against Huawei.<sup>54</sup> Aeronet also mentioned the alleged US strategy to control the EU 5G networks, standing behind the pressure on the EU countries to refrain from cooperation with Huawei.<sup>55</sup> The narrative that 5G networks will be used in efforts to bolster state surveillance and control of people's lives was also present. For example, one article warned against 5G in general, referring to the social credit scheme in China, using the words "5G concentration camp."<sup>56</sup>

The sentiment analysis revealed that alternative media were neutral on China with only several cases of positive or negative attitudes towards China. These results are rooted in the methodological approach outlined in the introductory part of this paper. As the sentiment analysis considered solely the excerpts of the articles contributed by the authors, the resulting sentiment is predominantly neutral. On the other hand, it is crucial to note that it does not necessarily mean that the impression of the article as a whole was neutral. The authors of the texts navigated the discourse with the help of the agenda-setters that they decided to quote. This practice was already apparent in the mainstream media analysis in a previous MapInfluenCE study<sup>57</sup> and may therefore be perceived as a common strategy applied by various media.

Whereas the positive articles underscored China's technological development,<sup>58,59</sup> the negative sentiment was evident in mentions emphasizing the vulnerability of critical technological infrastructure<sup>60</sup> and the connection of Huawei to the "communist dictatorship."<sup>61</sup>

The analysis identified 175 agenda-setters involved in the debate, the majority of whom were quoted once. If they appeared more than once, this was usually the result of duplicate posts of the same comments. This was especially evident in the case of the NÚKIB's security warning and Czech President Miloš Zeman's comments criticizing NÚKIB<sup>62</sup> and endorsing cooperation with Huawei in Hungary<sup>63</sup> and other countries. Among other political representatives, Prime Minister Andrej Babiš, Senator Pavel Fischer, and Member of European Parliament Alexandr Vondra were frequently quoted in the articles. Whereas Babiš took a rather neutral stance, Fischer and Vondra took a negative stance towards cooperation with China.

As previously suggested, the media scarcely provided the name of the authors, resulting in a lack of data for a detailed analysis. However, it is possible to identify the role of former Prime Minister Jiří Paroubek as a significant contributor to the debate on China as he frequently publishes comments on China-related issues. Apart from the former Prime Minister, several journalists could be cited as focusing frequently on the topic, such as Barbora Richterová, Marek Korejs, Radim Panenka, Zuzana Koulová, and Daniela Černá.

The articles lacked insights from experts, including China analysts, economists, or experts on technologies. Moreover, a closer look at the results shows that 24 percent of agenda-setters quoted by the alternative media as experts were from China and 14 percent from Russia. Sputnik, in particular, often quoted experts from Russia and provided considerable space for Chinese officials or experts. A similar trend was found in another MapInfluenCE analysis conducted in Poland.<sup>64</sup> For instance, one Chinese analyst emphasized that "the Czech-China relations have always been friendly," mentioned the benefits of the Belt and Road Initiative, and warned that "if the Czech Republic misses the opportunity to cooperate with China, its place will be taken over by Hungary or Slovenia.<sup>765</sup> Consequently, the discourse lacked insights from local experts and, instead, provided space for uncritical comments disregarding the issue of security risks.

In the case of Parlamentní listy, MapInfluenCE identified various Czech politicians and also Huawei representatives (including its Vice President for Central and Eastern Europe and Nordic Region Radoslaw Kedzia) commenting on the issue. Kedzia dismissed any links between Huawei and the Chinese Communist Party,<sup>66</sup> while Mika Lauhde, Huawei's Vice President for cybersecurity and privacy protection, promoted the company in general and claimed Huawei has not dealt with any serious cybersecurity incident in the past 30 years.<sup>67</sup>

Aeronet significantly differed from both Sputnik and Parlamentní listy as it refrained from using quotes and the article authors remained anonymous.

### CHINESE INVESTMENT: TOO MUCH, TOO LITTLE, TOO BAD?

This chapter draws conclusions based upon 208 media outputs with the majority being news (30 percent), closely followed by reprinted articles (27 percent), commented news (13 percent), interviews (13 percent), articles (7 percent), and others (10 percent). Parlamentní listy published the highest number of outputs amounting to 135, Sputnik referred to the Chinese investment in 63 cases and Aeronet in 10 cases.

The key focus regarding Chinese investment largely stayed within the Czech boundaries far outpacing other countries in terms of its primacy. Compared to other analyzed issues, the debate surrounding Chinese investment was logically more tailored to the local context, limiting the international context to occasional mentions of the Belt and Road Initiative<sup>68</sup> or situation in other countries, including Italy where the Chinese investments were supposedly beneficial as "the investors do not endeavor to buy the technologies to bring them [to China]."<sup>69</sup> Similar comments were also evident in an article on Iran emphasizing the economic benefits brought by Chinese tourists.<sup>70</sup>

The investments (or lack thereof)<sup>71</sup> were often mentioned as contextual background to Czech-China relations, including, for example, news on President Zeman's visits to China, especially the debate on his potential visit to the 17+1 summit in spring 2020.<sup>72</sup> Also, other crucial themes were linked to Miloš Zeman, such as sport diplomacy due to famous Czech athletes, Jaromír Jágr and Pavel Nedvěd, accompanying him to China.<sup>73</sup>

Similar to the findings from the analysis of Czech mainstream media,<sup>74</sup> operations of Chinese company CEFC, whose shares were acquired by the Chinese state company CITIC in 2018 due to CEFC's bankruptcy, dominated the discourse. However, the alternative media rarely referred to concrete examples of Chinese investment in the country, with the Slavia Praha soccer club being presented as the most successful investment.<sup>75</sup> On the other hand, the media often provided information on Czech companies PPF, Home Credit, and Škoda as it regards their involvement in the Chinese market.<sup>76</sup>

Inevitably, media outputs analyzed by the study often focused on economic cooperation with China in general, also mentioning the specific character of the

### IMAGE 2: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO CHINESE INVESTMENT IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE CZECH MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)

### INVESTMENT CITIC **SLAVIA** CHINA vs. US CZECH HUAWEI/5G **CHINA'S REPRISAL ŠKODA AUTO** SPORTS DIPLOMACY **INVESTMENT TAIWAN vs. CHINA** YE JIANMING INVESTIGATION SPECIFIC CHINA'S ENVIRONMENT **CZECH EXPORT TO CHINA** VYSTRČIL'S TAIWAN VISIT BRI **PPF/HOME CREDIT** CZECH FOREIGN POLICY HUMAN RIGHTS COVID-19 TOURISM **ZEMAN'S VISITS TO CHINA** CEFC SISTER CITY AGREEMENT **INVESTMENT IN THE WORLD** ECONOMIC COOPERATION WITH CHINA 16+1

Chinese business practices.<sup>77</sup> This led to several mentions of the alleged uniqueness of the Czech Republic as being the "gate" for the strategic investment from China.<sup>78</sup> Interestingly, several articles provided space to traditional Chinese narratives of the peaceful nature of China<sup>79</sup> and one article emphasized the benefits of "cheap and high-quality Chinese products leading to lower costs for the Czech population."<sup>80</sup> Nevertheless, these articles promoting Chinese investment were rather scarce, with the majority of articles focusing on factual information and news updates.

The cancellation of the sister city agreement between Prague and Beijing and later Shanghai, as well as subsequent twinning with Taiwanese capital Taipei, reopened the debate on China's potential reprisal and anticipated losses of Chinese investment. Therefore, a common comparison emerged between investment provided by China and Taiwan. Of course, this also incorporated other topics, such as cultural diplomacy and related cancellation of planned concerts of the Prague Philharmonic Orchestra in China.<sup>81</sup> Perhaps most importantly, the tensions between Prague and Beijing provided a space to use the issue in domestic political infighting. The analyzed articles often quoted political representatives, such as President Miloš Zeman<sup>82</sup> or Tomio Okamura,<sup>83</sup> leader of the right-wing populist political party Freedom and Direct Democracy (SPD), who criticized the Prague Mayor Hřib and the potential negative impact of his moves on Czech-China relations. Later, similar narratives were targeted at the Senate President Miloš Vystrčil due to his visit to Taiwan in autumn 2020.84 At the same time, the opposite narratives were featured. For example, the Greens (Zelení) called for Czech exit from the 16+1 format, due to the growing and non-transparent Chinese efforts to influence Czech politics.85

Several articles touched upon European concerns regarding China and its promises of infrastructure investment and its policy of 'divide and rule'<sup>86</sup> as causing internal divisions of the continent.<sup>87</sup> Apart from this, the articles sparsely addressed the EU-China relations, concentrating predominantly on the local debate.

As in all other case studies researched for the paper, outputs published by Aeronet offered unique and exhaustive explanations. A series of articles provided information on the relations between CEFC and Slovak J&T company, resulting in statements that Chinese investments were in fact funds drained from Slovak banks which were previously supposedly siphoned off by Chinese mafia. Moreover, Aeronet suggested that Ye Jianming, CEFC chair and an advisor to President Zeman, was a member of the Fujian mafia<sup>88</sup> and Aeronet labeled this affair "Operation Little Mole" (Krteček).<sup>89</sup> Another article of this series assumed that the Chinese mafia paid for a part of the campaign of (unsuccessful) presidential contender Jiří Drahoš.<sup>90</sup> As appearing in all of the analyzed issues, it is also important to note that Aeronet often employed conspiracy theories concerning Israel, for instance, claiming that Du Wei, the Chinese Ambassador to Israel, was killed by Israeli intelligence agency Mossad, on a request of the US administration.<sup>91</sup>

Many of the relevant articles were neutral with only a minority being positive or negative. The positive attitude towards China was expressed, for instance, in exclusive articles authored by Zhang Jianmin, Chinese Ambassador to the Czech Republic, as he promoted the Belt and Road Initiative<sup>92</sup> and mentioned that Chinese companies investing in the Czech Republic "bring tangible benefits."<sup>93</sup> Other interesting outputs were commentaries written by former Prime Minister Jiří Paroubek praising both the Chinese investment and system of education<sup>94</sup> and evaluating the Chinese investment in soccer club Slavia as "simply great."<sup>95</sup> One of the positive articles also presented China as a geopolitically responsible country, stressing its peaceful and cooperative nature.<sup>96</sup> Indeed, these narratives are typically employed by Chinese officials attempting to present China as a cooperative and peace-loving partner with a long and rich history.<sup>97</sup> The narratives are also employed when emphasizing the difference between Chinese and US actions, therefore presenting China as an alternative and liable partner for cooperation.

The negative comments were found in contrasting the investment from China and Taiwan. Karel Schwarzenberg, former Minister of Foreign Affairs, labeled Chinese investment as "funny"<sup>98</sup> and another author, Jan Ziegler, likened Chinese investments to a Loch Ness monster, quipping that "everybody speaks about it, but nobody has ever seen it."<sup>99</sup>

A total number of 125 various agenda-setters contributed to the discourse on Chinese investment with the majority quoted personas being Czechs (85 percent), showing the local character of this issue. At the same time, 5 percent of the agenda-setters were of Chinese origin and 4 percent from Russia.

The debate was largely formed by politicians (37 percent), with President Miloš Zeman being the most prominent voice, followed by Prime Minister Andrej Babiš and other representatives of the Office of the President, comprising Vratislav Mynář, Chancellor of the Office, and Spokesman Jiří Ovčáček. Otherwise, the agenda-setters were quoted mostly once, and if more frequently, it was mostly a repetition of previously mentioned comments. For instance, Andrej Babiš' remark on the lack of Chinese investment in the Czech Republic was constantly recycled by the journalists.<sup>100</sup> Noticeably, Zeman's comments on the issue have shifted to be mostly neutral, despite being a long-term proponent of intensified cooperation with China. He frequently simply stated that Chinese investment remained low.<sup>101</sup>

As mentioned in case of the other analyzed issues, Jiří Paroubek was among the most active authors, followed by journalists Radim Panenka, Daniela Černá, Zuzana Koulová and Marek Korejs. Apparently, despite the Chinese investment being one of the core and long-term topics regarding China, the discourse still lacked profound expert contributions. This may be caused by multiple factors. The alternative media may regard the experts as unnecessary components of the debate and chose not to publish their insights or the media may be prone to give voice on the issues to other actors, who are not necessarily experts in the field. It may also be caused by the reluctance of the established scholars to provide their comments to alternative media outlets.

### HONG KONG: VEXED BY THE CITY

An analysis of the coverage of Hong Kong in the alternative media considered 211 media outputs with the majority being news (48 percent), followed by reprinted articles (22 percent), commentaries (14 percent), interviews (9 percent), and other types (7 percent). Parlamentní listy covered the issue most extensively with 119 outputs, whereas Sputnik published 90 articles and Aeronet only two texts.

Undoubtedly, the key themes related to Hong Kong were the protests against the extradition law,<sup>102</sup> including the introduction of the new National Security Law. Alternative media also focused on protest-related violence and comparison of police and protesters' behavior.<sup>103</sup> Logically, the articles often quoted proclamations of the Chinese political representatives and endeavored to explain the position of China on the situation in Hong Kong.<sup>104</sup> Hence, "one country, two systems" and interference into internal Chinese affairs were among the most frequent topics representing the contextual background to the protests. The alternative media also extensively covered, again, the tensions between the US and China, including the US Human Rights and Democracy Act,<sup>105</sup> altering the legal status of Hong Kong, and imposing mutual sanctions.

Unlike in the case of the two previous case studies, which also draw data for comparison from the previous studies of mainstream media, MapInfluenCE identified clear narratives used by the Chinese political representatives and Chinese media. The articles often stressed China's 5,000-years-long history<sup>106</sup> and the colonial past of Hong Kong, emphasizing that Hong Kong under the rule of the United Kingdom was not democratic.<sup>107</sup> Another intriguing narrative stressed the "double standards" of other countries and media, comparing the protests and the police response to protests elsewhere, including Barcelona, Paris, or the US.<sup>108</sup> These findings show that the proclaimed intention of the analyzed media to publish alternative points of view may also translate into publishing China's official propaganda. Consequently, if lacking further context and expert explanations, it may considerably impact the reader's interpretations of the issue.



Related to the notion of interference in the internal Chinese affairs are the attempts to portray the US (and sometimes also other Western countries) as instigators of the protests,<sup>109</sup> sometimes even naming specific organizations, such as the Human Rights Watch (HRW) or National Endowment for Democracy (NED).

It is noticeable that all these narratives were common to the presentation of the events provided by Chinese state television CGTN and it may be therefore assumed that the narratives employed by the Czech alternative media might have been to a certain extent inspired by Chinese media. CGTN also actively labeled the protesters as separatists, terrorists or simply stigmatized the young people as lacking knowledge of the previous colonial past.<sup>110</sup> This tendency was rarely identified in the Czech alternative media. However, Parlamentní listy published a letter from an unspecified author from Hong Kong depicting the situation. Although not necessarily positive on China, this letter portrayed the protesters as unorganized groups of "bandits" damaging buildings and public infrastructure and disrupting traffic. The end of the article suggests that these activities were organized through a mobile app run in English, with a "white man" giving orders.<sup>111</sup> This highly likely refers to the application known as HKmap.live which, according to Hong Kong authorities, was used to attack police and track their movement. The app was subsequently removed from the Apple Store.<sup>112</sup> The author of the letter then distorted this information, suggesting that the protests were organized by foreigners. Interestingly, similar narratives were identified also in the analysis of Slovak media, suggesting a broader proliferation of Chinese narratives on the Hong Kong events into the local media.

As in the two previous case studies, the strategy of the analyzed alternative media largely followed the already described patterns. Whereas Sputnik mostly depicted international development, especially tensions between China and the US, Parlamentní listy chiefly reflected the debate on the issue in the Czech Republic. Authors critical to China compared the situation in Hong Kong to the situation in Czechoslovakia in 1968 when referring to the possible military intervention. The news articles informed the readers about the extradition treaty between the Czech Republic and China and the proposals of the Czech liberal-conservative political party TOP09 to grant visas to asylum seekers from Hong Kong.<sup>113</sup> Another article referred to the Czech Senate calling on Czech political representatives to boycott the upcoming Winter Olympic Games held in China.<sup>114</sup>

The debate in Parlamentní Listy focused on a wide range of issues, providing space to both positive and negative positions on the issue, suggesting attempts to balance the narratives on the analyzed events.

Compared to the other two media, Aeronet did not pay much attention to the Hong Kong developments. Nevertheless, for instance, it informed about CIA and National Endowment for Democracy (NED) "sponsoring, inciting and leading anti-China forces in Hong Kong" in an alleged attempt to incite a 'color revolution'.<sup>115</sup>

Similar to the previous two case studies, the sentiment analysis shows the majority of coverage as neutral, with only several positive or negative mentions. However, these individual cases deserve a closer look. Parlamentní listy published two texts authored by Zhang Jianmin, Chinese Ambassador to the Czech Republic, emphasizing the supposed extremely violent and illegal nature of protests and "double standards" adopted by some countries and organizations that close their eyes to the protesters' behavior.<sup>116</sup> He also mentioned that China has effectively employed the "one country, two systems" policy which is supposedly the source of Hong Kong's success.<sup>117</sup>

Another interesting commentary was written by Senator Jaroslav Doubrava, who is known for his trip to Crimea in 2018<sup>118</sup> and his letters to the Chinese Ambassador criticizing planned visits to Taiwan initiated by the then President of the Senate Jaroslav Kubera.<sup>119</sup> Senator Doubrava suggested that the Hong Kong government only intended to supplement the current legislation and the extradition law had nothing to do with limiting Hong Kong judicial independence. Furthermore, Doubrava predicted the diminution of Hong Kong's significance to a large but unimportant port.<sup>120</sup>

The outputs coded as negative were mostly reprints of social media posts. For example, Senator Tomáš Czernin, a proponent of common EU policy towards China,<sup>121</sup> criticized the communist and totalitarian regime in China as having destroyed the remnants of democracy and freedom in Hong Kong.<sup>122</sup> Former Member of Parliament and current Minister of Foreign Affairs Jan Lipavský, known for his critical stance on China and Russia and their potential involvement in critical infrastructure,<sup>123</sup> raised the question of the existing Czech extradition treaty with China and its possible impacts<sup>124</sup> and Cardinal Dominik Duka emphasized the religious and human rights abuses in China in his open letter.<sup>125</sup>

The analysis identified 123 agenda-setters involved in the discourse formation. Unsurprisingly, 70 percent of the speakers were of Czech origin but the alternative media, especially Sputnik, very often provided comments of Chinese agenda-setters (20 percent). Usually, the most prominent speakers were officials from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, including Minister Wang Yi.

The discourse was largely steered by politicians (38 percent). Among the Czech political representatives, Senator Pavel Fischer and former Minister of Foreign Affairs Tomáš Petříček frequently shared their insights on the issue. Politicians were

followed by journalists (22 percent), state administration (16 percent), and experts (16 percent). It is crucial to note that the dominance of politicians in the discourse is caused by the logic of the alternative media as they refrain from mentioning the authors of the articles, putting journalists in the background.

Former Prime Minister Jiří Paroubek, as in all previous case studies, contributed with several commentaries on the issue. He emphasized China's resistance to turbulent protests, which were supposed to provoke a stern reaction from authorities but stayed within the city's boundaries instead. Meanwhile, he criticized Czech Senators for their efforts to strengthen ties with Taiwan, labeling them "useful idiots."<sup>126</sup> Paroubek also drew a parallel between the situation in Hong Kong and potential attempts of an American state, putting New York as an example, to seek independence.<sup>127</sup>

Another frequent contributor to the debate, either as an author or mentioned as an expert, was Jan Campbell, likely a German citizen of Czech nationality,<sup>128</sup> who often provides comments on geopolitical issues to alternative Czech media. Concerning Hong Kong, he criticized the European Parliament resolution on the situation in Hong Kong, claiming its interference in internal Chinese affairs.<sup>129</sup> He also suggested that the Maidan protest organizers were "exported" to Hong Kong.<sup>130</sup>

## XINJIANG: A LOST WOR(L)D?

In comparison to previous case studies, the topic of Xinjiang was the least covered with a total of 55 mentions in the given period. This fact illustrates that there was little attention dedicated to the region, which is often associated with human rights violations perpetrated by the Chinese regime. Parlamentní listy has dedicated a total of 27 texts, followed by Sputnik (26) and Aeronet with just one article on the topic.

In the case of Parlamentní listy, the majority of articles approached the topic formally neutrally. Altogether 17 articles were reposted from other sources, ranging from Facebook accounts of Czech politicians to Literární noviny (a newspaper cooperating with Chinese state-owned Guangming Daily)<sup>131</sup> and Czech mainstream media.

Three contributions favoring China's positions were identified in Parlamentní listy when Xinjiang was discussed. Two of them were written by the former Czech Prime Minister Jiří Paroubek, who has also featured prominently in the debates on 5G and Chinese investment. Parlamentní listy reprinted his texts from Vaševěc website. The remaining positive piece was written by Jan Campbell, mentioned already in the analysis of the debate on the Hong Kong issue.<sup>132</sup>

On the other hand, the political commentaries and reprints featuring the Pirate MEP Markéta Gregorová, Senator Pavel Fischer as well as MP Vít Kaňkovský from the Christian Democratic Party (KDU-ČSL). They focused on the abuse of human rights, the totalitarian regime in China, and the concentration camps in Xinjiang.

Interestingly, in November 2019, Parlamentní listy published a common appeal by the Czech parliamentarians from across the party criticizing China for its human rights violations, torture as well as illegal sale of human organs. It directly states: "I believe we have the diplomatic tools to express our fundamental opposition to what is happening in China in the field of human rights - whether it is the imprisonment and torture of political opponents, religious and ethnic minorities and illegal organ harvesting in the People's Republic of China, and therefore, it is extremely necessary for the Chamber of Deputies to comment on this fundamental issue."<sup>133</sup>

Parlamentní listy also gave space to MEP Markéta Gregorová who spoke about the Chinese concentration camps, persecution as well as the need to impose economic sanctions against China on the occasion of awarding Ilham Tohti with the Sakharov Prize in December 2019.<sup>134</sup>

In terms of topics selection, Uyghurs, human rights, concentration camps as well as Czech-Chinese relations played the most important role, but a number of others, including the "West," sanctions, EU, US, external interference, or Islam featured prominently too. Terrorism and geopolitics were also listed among the topics, even if less frequently.

### IMAGE 4: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO XINJIANG IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE CZECH MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



Due to an insufficient number of Aeronet-published articles on the topic (only one article), it is not possible to draw any substantial conclusions beyond looking at the general nature of the contributions, which typically reflect conspiratorial nature, high level of mistrust towards the EU, NATO, and above all the US, as well as frequent references to anti-Semitism.

The third analyzed media outlet Sputnik mostly focused on international perspective on the issues while Czech domestic politics played only a secondary role. Sputnik depicted the United States as the main villain and had a tendency to focus on the rivalry between the US and China. If the articles mentioned Russia, they referred to Russian disagreement with the US intervention in China's internal affairs.<sup>135</sup>

Interestingly, none of Sputnik's articles could be characterized as negative towards China. When it comes to agenda-setters, it is once again the case that Sputnik extensively quotes Chinese and Russian officials, including the spokespersons of Chinese MFA, Minister Wang Yi, and a number of Russian analysts, such as Alexey Sarychev and Edvard Chesnokov. The inclusion of Chinese and Russian voices may have given Sputnik's narratives a particular leaning while being careful not to take a side itself. Apart from foreign agenda-setters, the texts also featured the Czech regional politician Jiří Čunek and Senator Zdeněk Nytra.

## TAIWAN: THE NEW PRESSURE POINT

The issue of Taiwan's depiction in the Czech alternative media outlets arguably brought the most interesting results. Czech media, including the alternative scene, have paid very close attention to the phenomenon (publishing more than 720 articles on the issue). The reason for such attention has been, above all, the visit of the Czech Senate President Miloš Vystrčil to the island at the beginning of September 2020. The topic also played a leading role in Czech domestic politics and became a point of contention among the political parties and individual politicians.

The media coverage was particularly dense between June and October 2020, connected to Miloš Vystrčil's visit to Taiwan and subsequent escalation of bilateral relations when the Chinese Minister of Foreign Affairs Wang Yi threatened Vystrčil would "pay a heavy price" for the trip.

IMAGE 5: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO TAIWAN IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE CZECH MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



Parliamentní listy focused on domestic-driven agenda connected to the Czech political debate about Taiwan. The alternative media outlet published a number of critical texts on China (31), which were complemented by comments with a positive sentiment (26). Unsurprisingly, most of the latter quoted Chinese individuals and institutions (such as the Chinese Embassy in Prague, ministries of defense, foreign affairs, etc.). The site hosted a large amount of reprinted content (176) as well as com-

mentaries (55), some of which were politically heavily loaded and had polarizing views on China. While the overwhelming majority of articles were formally neutral, through the selection of agenda-setters and clickbait headlines, traces of manipulation are clearly visible.

Parlamentní listy covered several key topics in connection to Taiwan, such as Miloš Vystrčil's visit to Taiwan, One-China Policy in general, and the role of Taiwan in Czech-Chinese relations. A substantial space was given to domestic debate, geopolitical rivalry between the US and China (though proportionally with less emphasis than was the case of Sputnik), activities of the United States in the region with a particular focus on Taiwan and the Czech foreign policy, including vis-à-vis China and Taiwan, often portrayed as the continuation of the US activities.

The site focused very closely on the Czech landscape and politicization of the Czech Chinese relations, also in the context of Taiwan, by the domestic actors. Hence, it is not surprising that the President of the Senate Miloš Vystrčil was referred to in 272 cases, while the Czech President Miloš Zeman in 183 cases. Other individuals and institutions, such as the Prague Castle's Chancellor Vratislav Mynář (42 cases), Chinese advisor to Zeman Ye Jianming (3 times), or the now deceased Czech businessman with close links to China Petr Kellner and his PPF group were mentioned 15 times. On the other hand, Prague Mayor Zdeněk Hřib, who is known for his critique of the Chinese communist regime, appeared in 75 cases and the then President of Czech Senate Jaroslav Kubera in 148 instances.

The overwhelming majority of positive sentiment expressed towards China in Parlamentní listy was identified in reposted articles authored by Jiří Paroubek and press releases issued by a far-right political party of Tomio Okamura. Chinese official narratives appeared in reprints carried by Parlamentní listy. For instance, in October 2019, Parlamentní listy reposted the official proclamation of the City of Beijing rebuking Prague Mayor Zdeněk Hřib who questioned the "One-China clause" in a bilateral agreement with Beijing.<sup>136</sup> In another case from June 2020, Parlamentní listy reprinted the official statement of the Chinese Embassy in Prague titled "There Is Only One China in the World and Taiwan Is Its Part."<sup>137</sup>

Parlamentní listy also published an interview<sup>138</sup> with Zhang Jianmin, the Chinese Ambassador to the Czech Republic, in which he reacted to allegations surrounding the death of Jaroslav Kubera who was supposedly under pressure from the Chinese embassy due to his intentions to visit Taiwan. Zhang Jianmin stressed that his last meeting with Kubera was calm and he mentioned a potential for change in his decision to travel to Taiwan, not referring to any pressure from the Chinese side.

A specific narrative related to the comparison between Taiwan and the socalled "Sudetenland," the Czech borderland with Germany and Austria, occupied and integrated by the Third Reich Nazi Germany in 1939, was used by several Czech stakeholders.<sup>139</sup> This included an interview with Rudolf Jindrák, the Head of the Foreign Affairs Office of Czech President Miloš Zeman.<sup>140</sup> A similar argument was repeated by the far-right politicians<sup>141</sup> including Jiří Koten. The foreign affairs expert of the SPD party compared the visit of Taiwan to a hypothetical meeting of the head of National People's Congress with members of a separatist movement requesting compensations from the Czechs for the expulsion of Germans after 1945 and demand return of German properties.<sup>142</sup> This topic is often abused by the far-right and

but the vereign lister of related value of epublic eady by ensions vents in Marshal to Chie, in the ervices. ns, and le cases ourse. y inter-

far-left circles in Czech politics in order to mobilize their electorate by playing the nationalist card. The same comparison was also repeated by the leader of SPD Tomio Okamura.<sup>143</sup> He also added that the Taiwan visit would harm the Czech interests and only benefited the US.

Parlamentní listy also carried articles which mentioned China negatively. The negative position on China was mostly found in texts authored by both Czech and foreign politicians, such as the Club of Non-Engaged Non-Partisans (KAN) and its leader František Laudát, Miloš Vystrčil, Marek Benda, Tomáš Czernin, Jan Lipavský, Karel Schwarzenberg, Miroslav Jurečka, Alexandr Vondra, Miroslava Němcová, Václav Láska and Petr Fiala.

Former Minister of Culture Daniel Herman, for example, spoke about the Czech-Taiwanese relations in an article titled "In the Relations of Two Sovereign Countries, Nobody Is Eligible to Interfere."<sup>144</sup> Former MP and the current Minister of Foreign Affairs Jan Lipavský asked in his commentary a number of questions related to Taiwan, including what the WHO is going to do to recognize the added value of Taiwan in fighting the COVID-19 pandemic or what steps should the Czech Republic take to promote the status of the island within the organization.<sup>145</sup>

Sputnik published a relatively large number of reprints published already by Czech and international media. Once again Sputnik's central theme was the tensions between the US and China. If referring to Russia, the articles mentioned key events in Czech-Russian relations, such as Nord Stream 2 and the removal of a Soviet Marshal Ivan Konev's statue. These issues were usually mentioned alongside references to China as these two countries sometimes appear in the media together, for example, in the discourse on Dukovany or security warnings issued by Czech intelligence services.

In addition, Sputnik gave extensive space to Chinese experts, politicians, and ministries' representatives to comment on the issue of Taiwan. Some of the cases could be even perceived as blunt attempts to inject propaganda into the discourse.

While cases of open propaganda were relatively rare, they provide a very interesting view of the formation and spread of pro-China narratives by Sputnik. Articles seldom referred to Chinese sources directly (as was the case of the exclusive interview with the Chinese Ambassador published by Parlamentní listy), yet there were instances of Sputnik bringing forward a Chinese expert, such as when it carried an interview with Cui Hongjian, an expert from the Institute of Europe operating under the Chinese Institute for International Affairs. Cui gave a detailed account of Czech-Chinese relations and highlighted the risks of escalation of mutual relations, which was contrasted with the position of Brussels and other EU members.<sup>146</sup> Pro-China narratives were also put forward by individual Czech authors. The case to highlight is the text authored by Alena Novotná who wrote about the allegedly subordinate role of the Czech Republic to the United States, calling the Czech Republic "a useful idiot." In the same article, two Czech extreme political voices were interviewed and instrumentalized to bash the opposition.<sup>147</sup> This specific article put forward anti-liberal arguments and opposed views critical towards China.

In other instances, Sputnik may have attempted to - at least in its self-assessment – strike a balance between two extreme poles, providing space to various voices. Thus, out of 202 texts, only a few articles were coded as downright negative on China (five)

and even fewer positive (three). However, it is worth emphasizing that the neutrality of texts has been achieved thanks to the choice of topics and experts.

Aeronet offered a predominantly Russia's view of the geopolitical rivalry between the US and China. Altogether 10 articles focused on a mixture of different topics, such as Zionism or the role of EU, NATO, and the United States. China itself was not at the center of attention for Aeronet. Interestingly, it is possible to trace a clear intention to engage with the domestic agenda and individuals, which the site opposes in their mutual disputes. Pavel Novotný, the Mayor of Prague District Řeporyje, who has previously commented on China and Russia affairs, has been quite a frequent commentator quoted by Aeronet.

### CONCLUSION

At first glance, the most frequent topics appearing in media discourse may suggest that the narratives presented by the alternative media correlate to a certain extent with the findings identified in the mainstream media.

First, this trend may be partly explained by the number of reprinted articles coming from various both alternative and mainstream media sources, without additional editorial input, as well as the large number of articles categorized as news that were likely reprinted from the press agencies. Nevertheless, the analyzed Czech alternative media did not indicate press agencies as a source of their reporting.

Second, the crucial findings lie not in the most occurring sub-themes but their interpretation. The analysis has shown that the proclaimed intention of the analyzed media to publish alternative points of view may also translate into publishing China's views. This tendency, identified in the Czech (but also Slovak) analysis of the Hong Kong protests, suggests that Chinese narratives on the events proliferated into the local media. Identification of these narratives may be arduous as they are most obvious if put into context with the results of the MapInfluenCE mainstream media analysis and compared with the narratives present in Chinese media. It means that the analyzed alternative media do not necessarily use manipulative techniques that would be obvious at first sight but instead, they employ subtle strategies of smuggling in specific quotes, confusing the facts, giving space to Chinese and Russian voices, or omitting crucial information.

It is possible to identify significant differences in terms of the focus of the media outlets. Whereas Sputnik predominantly depicted the international events, which may to a certain extent be explained by the tendency to reprint articles from its other language versions, Parlamentní listy provided a more localized discussion on the issues. Aeronet, on the other hand, only published original outputs constituting extensive commentaries on the issue.

The analysis of the Czech alternative media and their coverage of five crucial China-related issues has identified predominantly neutral sentiment which correlates with findings of the mainstream media analysis. However, it is crucial to emphasize that these results are anchored in the methodological approach, which only considers the excerpts of texts contributed by their authors. Consequently, the resulting sentiment of the texts is undeniably shaped by agenda-setters. Therefore, the choice of quotes is a decisive element in formulating the narratives on events.

The analyzed alternative media frequently featured comments of foreign agenda-setters from China and Russia. While referring to China-related topics, publishing China's position on the issue is a natural part of the discourse as long as it is put into context and properly explained, which was not often the case in the analyzed coverage. Otherwise, it may considerably impact the reader's interpretation of the issue. This was particularly apparent in the lack of comments by Czech experts on China and a high number of comments on the issue provided by experts from Russia and China.

The professed effort of alternative media to showcase the plurality of opinions leads to the blurring of distinctions between relevant and irrelevant sources and the amplification of fringe voices. Likewise, the distinction between professional journalists and bloggers publishing their opinion articles, often without indicating their expertise, affiliation, or source of information disappears. This is also apparent in the tendency to anonymize the author, which means that the author may not be held accountable for the output.

# Slovakia: Propaganda hidden in a plain sight

Matej Šimalčík, Peter Dubóczi, Michaela Ružičková, Barbara Kelemen

In Slovakia, the research of China-related narratives focused on three most-read online alternative media: Hlavné správy, Hlavný denník, and Infovojna. All of these media were at some point listed in the database of the Konšpirátori.sk watchdog initiative, which deals with the evaluation of websites with frivolous, misleading, fraudulent, conspiratorial, or propaganda content.<sup>148</sup> Currently, the website lists only Infovojna as the project was ordered by the court to delist Hlavné správy and Hlavný denník from the website after their respective publishers targeted Konšpirátori.sk with strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPP). Although both media show an effort to re-profile themselves and therefore penetrate the mainstream media space through the publication of objective content (mostly through the takeover of the content of press agencies), it can still be stated that problematic content remains present in both cases.

Hlavné správy were removed from the database in March 2020 on the basis of a court decision, but the expert committee of the Konšpirátori.sk project continues to consider it problematic<sup>149</sup> due to the spread of manipulative and false information as it has reposted articles from websites such as Sputnik and RT, which are spreading Kremlin propaganda around the world, at least since 2014. The server Hlavné správy uncritically takes over problematic narratives, leaves no room for the comments of parties involved, manipulates their claims, publishes unfounded allegations, and does not verify their sources.<sup>150</sup>

At the time of the selection of the analyzed media, Hlavný denník was still part of the aforementioned Konšpirátori.sk database.<sup>151</sup> However, it was removed from the database in August 2021, following a court order. Hlavný denník publishes a mixture of conspiracy theories and disinformation narratives. Extreme right-wing politicians are also regular contributors, spreading openly racist statements. The site also uncritically spreads pro-Kremlin propaganda and anti-system narratives.<sup>152</sup> According to the evaluation of Konšpirátori.sk, the outlet does not respect the basic principles of journalistic ethics. For example, it does not publish corrective reports and leaves available uncorrected reports that have objectively proved to be untrue. It does not publish possible reactions of the affected party, it liberally mixes up news articles and commentaries, it repeatedly publishes shocking false statements in order to increase traffic, sometimes correcting them later.<sup>153</sup>

The last analyzed outlet Infovojna.sk still appears in the above-mentioned database of websites with disputed content with a rating of 8.8 points out of 10.<sup>154</sup> The website was established in 2015 and is operated by Norbert Lichtner, one of the founders of the conspiracy internet radio Slobodný vysielač. Unlike the first two selected

media, Infovojna does not shy away from its alternative orientation and in recent times it can be considered the most radical outlet in the selection. The problematic content and functioning of Infovojna.sk (e.g. compliance with standards and ethics of journalism) has similar characteristics as in the case of two other selected media - uncritical adoption of non-factual content, the presence of conspiracy theories, or the dissemination of hoaxes.

All three examined media have already established a track record of promoting pro-Kremlin narratives. Previous MapInfluenCE research also revealed that some of these media or authors publishing therein have also been engaged in spreading pro-China narratives.<sup>155</sup>

Similar to the Czech case study, in the course of investigating the China-focused narratives in Slovak alternative media, MapInfluenCE focused on five topics that are considered to be central to the discourse on China: 5G networks (193 articles), investment (88 articles), Hong Kong (304 articles), Xinjiang (94 articles), and Taiwan (136 articles).

Similar to the Czech case, the analysis has revealed that the media discourse on China in Slovak alternative media bears similarities to the discourse previously observed in mainstream media.<sup>156</sup> Most China-focused content in the alternative media is sourced from the local press agencies, either TASR (a state-controlled news agency) or SITA (a privately-owned news agency). This trend has been especially prominent in the coverage of human rights-related topics. In the case of articles discussing China in relation to Taiwan, 60 percent of articles were sourced from press agencies, while in the case of Xinjiang, it was 69 percent. In the case of coverage of Hong Kong protests, articles originating from press agencies constituted as much as 80 percent of examined outputs. This trend was not as prominent in topics connected to Slovakia's economy and security topics. 40 percent of articles regarding Chinese involvement in the 5G networks and 20 percent of articles related to the investment, in general, came from the press agencies. Russian media were also an important source of content for the Slovak alternative media outlets. Except for Xinjiang coverage, Russian sources featured in at least 5 percent of articles across the analyzed topics. The largest share was identified among articles on Chinese investment, articles on which were sourced from Russian outlets in as many as 20 percent. By comparison, Chinese sources were quoted only in a handful of cases.

However, it does not mean that the Slovak alternative media discourse did not differ from the mainstream media reporting. Adopting press agency coverage may be a deliberate strategy, allowing for a prima facie perception of regular coverage of contentious topics, while at the same time publishing problematic content under the guise of neutrality.

### **5G DISCUSSION: REDUCED TO CHINA-US CONFLICT**

Slovak alternative media outlets were highly active in their coverage of the 5G buildup. In total, the three media outlets selected for the analysis published 193 articles. In particular, Hlavné správy published 120 articles, Hlavný denník carried out 68 articles and Infovojna published 5 articles.

Looking at the sources of all these articles, 78 articles used one or both of the Slovak press agencies (TASR, SITA) as a source of information. This figure represents 40 percent of all the analyzed articles. In addition to Slovak press agencies, a foreign press agency (AP) was mentioned as the source in 9 articles (less than 5 percent of the dataset). We may assume that the analyzed media outlets were (with mixed success) trying to bring more unbiased and objective information, which can partly improve their image of an alternative and sometimes non-relevant source.

Articles attributed to specific authors made up 27 percent of all content relevant to the 5G topic. These articles in many cases included insights and opinions. Finally, some articles mentioned some other problematic media as a source, for instance, RT, Sputnik, the Strategic Culture Foundation, or the Czech outlet Aeronet. Hlavný denník also led in terms of publishing articles authored by specific authors. This outlet published authored articles in the period from April 2019 to mid-July 2019 and also from August 2020 to the end of April 2021. In the meantime (from the beginning of July 2019 to August 2020) the author of published articles was mostly specified as "the editorial board" ("hlavnydennik.sk"). In four cases, information from Slovak press agency TASR was provided. One of the articles came from the external author Elena Pustovojtová from the Strategic Culture Foundation.

Another outlet, Hlavné správy, published primarily news from Slovak press agencies (TASR and SITA) or foreign press agencies (AP). There were significantly fewer articles attributed to an individual author than in Hlavný denník. However, some of the published articles contained information from problematic sources such as RT (in three cases) and, to a larger extent, Sputnik (15 cases). One of the articles was written by Eugen Rusnák, a Russian citizen, whose real name is Yevgeny Palcev. He is known for regularly disseminating pro-Kremlin propaganda in Slovak information space, specifically in Hlavné správy, Zem a Vek, and Hlavný denník. He also happens to be linked to the Russia Today (RT) agency financed by the Russian state.<sup>157</sup>

Interestingly, the alternative media outlet Infovojna was not very active in covering the 5G topic, as it published the fewest articles. In two cases, Infovojna took over content from Aeronet, a Czech alternative media, regularly spreading disinformation, propaganda, and conspiracy theories.<sup>158</sup> One of Infovojna's articles came from the portal Otevri svou mysl, which presents itself as an alternative source, but mainly disseminates pseudoscientific narratives.<sup>159</sup>

When it comes to the particular content of the articles focusing on 5G, the analyzed media outlets mainly focused on the following sub-themes: restrictions on ZTE and Huawei, conflict dynamic between China and the US, as well as allegations of data collection and espionage by Chinese companies. Quite frequently, alternative media outlets were spreading narratives about 5G being used by the US to put pressure on China. The topic was therefore a part of the broader anti-Western narrative that conforms to prior criticism of the US, Germany, United Kingdom, and other western countries that have adopted restrictions against Chinese technology companies. At the same time, the narrative served as a means for glorifying China and partly Russia in the case of the announced cooperation of both countries in building 5G infrastructure.

Specifically, alternative media reported on the restriction of Huawei and ZTE activities in the United Kingdom and the United States (and later in Canada and New Zealand) under suspicion of Huawei's spying activities. Liu Xiaoming, the Chinese

Ambassador to the United Kingdom, was regularly quoted on the matter, calling on the UK not to be subject to "US external interests." According to Liu, the US planned to put pressure on Huawei and urge it to stop its contracts in the UK, where the technology giant was building a new 5G network. Liu also urged the UK to avoid "any kind of discriminatory measures against companies involved in the development of 5G. China expects a truly open and fair England to provide equal conditions in business for all."<sup>160</sup>

The restrictions of Chinese technological companies were associated with the trade black list including several Chinese entities. The US has included Huawei on this list, citing suspicion about the company's links to the Beijing government, military, or intelligence services, which may obtain sensitive data via the company. China has described the allegations as rumors with no evidence, the narrative that was communicated persistently via official channels. In the analyzed media, the topic was interpreted as a part of the trade war between the US and China and the alternative media quoted Huawei CEO Zhang Fei and Chinese Foreign Ministry Spokesman Lu Kang on the issue.

Hlavné správy later brought the information about the eventual restriction of Chinese technology companies in Germany, partly based on the statements of Wang Weidong, Chief of the Economic and Commercial Department at the Chinese Embassy in Germany.<sup>161</sup> According to him, "excluding Huawei in Germany for so-called national security reasons would be a discriminatory and unfair decision." It would, the argument continued, create a bad signal of protectionism and an obstacle in bilateral relations. In August 2020, the media published a commentary on the Sino-US relations, citing another piece by the Global Times, and calling the US attitude towards China a declaration of a new Cold War.<sup>162</sup>

### IMAGE 6: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO 5G ISSUE AND CHINA IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE SLOVAK MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)

# HUEULOEULOEULOEULOEULOEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEUEULEU</t

Interestingly, the analyzed media also disseminated Vladimir Putin's claims that the US is trying to push Huawei out of the market. These anti-US narratives were associated with Russia's announcement that it will launch a pilot 5G project on its territory.<sup>163</sup> Russian telecommunication company MTS was to cooperate with Huawei in building 5G networks in 2019 and 2020. According to Hlavný denník, China's cooperation with Russia was the result of US policy. As one of its articles stated: "a policy of maximum pressure using sanctions and fines leads to the creation of alliances, where the states that the US president wants to get to their knees join."<sup>164</sup>

In June 2019, Hlavný denník published an article titled "The F-35 Fighter Is Operated by Chinese Chips. The Hysteria Over Huawei's 'Espionage' Is Falling Apart." In this article, the author spoke of "months of whipped emotions around the rampant espionage story of Chinese companies spying for the Chinese government."<sup>165</sup> Per the piece's author, the US and UK are unconcerned about security risks. Instead, the two nations view Huawei as a crucial economic competitor and symbol of China's dominance in the technological sector, prompting their outcry. Another example of Hlavný denník's efforts to portray the US in a negative light may be found in an article titled "Donald Trump and His Trade Policy Are Guilty of Forming an Alliance Between Russia and China."<sup>166</sup>

Another US-related narrative was the alleged influence of the US on the UK and other states, which sought to limit cooperation with Chinese technology companies. To strengthen this narrative, Hlavný denník often reprinted information from Russia Today (RT). In one particular article, it was argued that the United Kingdom is acting as if it was the "51st state of the Union."<sup>167</sup>

In August 2020, a new topic of the COVID-19 pandemic emerged. In this context, Hlavný denník published an article on "odd links between the coronavirus and the 5G," connecting the place where the virus originated (Wuhan) with a place where the 5G network was tested.<sup>168</sup> Interestingly, the outlet later labeled the article as false and instead referred to an article by Robert Barca, Slovak fact-checker of the international agency AFP verifying information disseminated on Facebook, who called the information a hoax.<sup>169</sup> This may be a result of the demand for credible information about the origin of the virus, but also a result of hyped sensibility towards non-factual content which appeared in the Slovak information space at the beginning of the pandemic.

One of the few topics that directly concerned the region of Central and Eastern Europe was the subject of US-Czech relations, and the cooperation of both nations on 5G security.<sup>170</sup> In this regard, articles about Mike Pompeo's visit to Europe, which he had started in the Czech Republic, appeared also in the alternative media.<sup>171</sup> Infovojna connected Pompeo's visit primarily to the announced signing of a memorandum, or rather extended agreement on the security of 5G networks between the US and the Czech Republic, which the website described as dictated by the EU.<sup>172</sup> The visit was framed in the context of Sino-US relations. In other words, the visit was also used by the media outlet as a segue to put forward a narrative bashing the US in particular and the West in general.

# CHINESE INVESTMENT: CAUGHT IN THE CROSSHAIRS OF SUPERPOWER RIVALRY?

From among the five analyzed topics, the articles on Chinese investment displayed the greatest variance in both topics covered and contributing authors. However, one of the analyzed media, Infovojna, did not deal with the topic at all. Thus, the analysis of this topic is based only on the content of Hlavné správy and Hlavný denník.

While 20 percent of articles on Chinese investment were sourced from the Slovak press agencies (the lowest share among the five analyzed topics), a slightly larger share (22 percent) of articles were reprinted from or based on Russian sources. Interestingly, Chinese sources were almost unrepresented, with only one article originating from the Global Times.

In the coverage of Chinese investment, the analysis has identified as many as 147 different topics. Interestingly, Chinese investment in Slovakia was not among the top represented topic, accounting only for some 11 percent of articles.

### IMAGE 7: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO CHINESE INVESTMENT IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE SLOVAK MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



In July 2019, a meeting between President Zuzana Čaputová and Chinese Minister of Foreign Affairs Wang Yi took place in Bratislava. During the meeting, President Čaputová raised the issue of human rights violations in China. As a result, the president faced intense backlash from the then pro-China government, as well as the 'alternative media' scene in Slovakia. Hlavné správy published an editorial attacking President Čaputová who purportedly "weakens the international position of Slovakia" as "the current approaches and speeches of President Čaputová are endangering for example Chinese investment in Slovakia. The president must realize that she no longer represents a foreign foundation, but the entire Slovak Republic."<sup>173</sup>

Interestingly, in the discussion of Chinese investment in Slovakia, the analyzed media omitted the issue of CEFC investment despite its close links to Slovakia. Compared to that, the issue of CEFC was covered more by the Czech alternative media.

Significantly larger shares of articles adopted an international perspective, covering topics related to the US and Sino-American trade war, relations with Russia, relations with EU, and infrastructure investment.

For example, Hlavné správy linked the issue of Chinese investment to the conflict in the Middle East and US involvement in the region. In light of the assassination of the Iranian General Qasem Soleimani, Hlavné správy, in an article sourced from the Chinese jingoistic tabloid Global Times, claimed:

"If the US-Iran war broke out, it would cause great economic damage to China. China buys Iranian oil, and Americans strategically see Russia and China as their biggest competitors. The volumes of Iranian oil that China buys are huge, and China is much more dependent on oil from the Gulf countries than the United States. China has also invested in Iran and Iraq, as well as many Middle Eastern countries, and a war provoked by the Americans could help Americans destroy this Chinese investment, as well as reduce Iranian oil supplies to China."<sup>174</sup>

Articles based upon Russian sources (e.g. Russia Today, Sputnik, or TASS agency) often discussed the relationship between Russia and China, describing them as mutually beneficial and as a counterweight to the Western liberal world order. To illustrate, Hlavný denník reprinted op-eds originally published by Russia Today and authored by the British commentator Tom Fowdy, who is known to publish pro-China commentaries in Russian and Chinese state-linked outlets. In one article, Fowdy argued that Russia has become a key piece in the Belt and Road Initiative puzzle, which may form one of the bases of the nascent Sino-Russian alliance. He argued that these "strategic links between Russia and China are no doubt strengthening" which will lead to a "shift in the balance of power on the Eurasian continent."175 Fowdy's commentary on the conclusion of negotiations on investment agreement between China and the EU (CAI) followed the similar line of changing balance of power and US decline. In the article titled "The US Is Furious At the Sino-European Agreement. It Is Clear Who Is Defeated in 2020," Fowdy argued that "the US response [to CAI] is an act of despair from the losing party, which will only serve to deepen the divide between America and Europe created by Trump."176

In linking the issue of Chinese investment to the Sino-American rivalry, Hlavný denník also displayed conspiratorial tendencies. For example, the outlet claimed that "Even before Maidan and the 'Crimean Spring' in 2014, Ukraine had the potential to become a close economic ally of China and could receive long-term investments worth \$50 billion from the alliance. However, the Americans did not like such prospects and carried out a coup in Kyiv."<sup>177</sup>

Hlavné správy also presented a notably positive image of Chinese investment, using Chinese presence in Africa as an illustrative example. Quoting the Global Times, Chinese investment in Africa was described as benefiting the continent, while at the same time attacking the US. Specifically, the outlet argued:
"Over the past decade, Africa has come out of American influence, with China, in particular, taking over US positions. The recipe by which China has achieved this is relatively simple. Unlike Americans, China does not corrupt or assert its influence through bribed political elites but offers fair agreements and treaties. Thanks to the development of bilateral relations between China and a number of African countries, the economic position of African countries has also improved, but this does not suit Americans. They have the idea that the mineral wealth of African countries is only there so that American companies can dispose of it."<sup>178</sup>

It is clear that the outlet was relying on the narrative of 'win-win' cooperation between China and African states, which is often deployed by Chinese propaganda, despite growing evidence of problems with economic feasibility and security implications of Chinese investment in Africa.<sup>179</sup>

## HONG KONG: A "COLOR REVOLUTION" AND AN EXERCISE IN WHATABOUTISM

Protests were clearly a key topic in the monitored period as they spread in Hong Kong after the announcement of a proposal to change Hong Kong's extradition law. As with the previous cases, most of the analyzed articles, 247 from 304 in total, were news directly taken from Slovak press agencies. That represents 81 percent of all the analyzed articles. These were neutral in tone, mostly taking into account the views and position of both (or more) mentioned parties and seeking to contextually inform about the development of the situation.

The predominance of press releases in the alternative information space of Slovakia can be explained by the fact that the analyzed alternative media have long been characterized by an effort to get rid of the anti-system label, or an effort to join the media mainstream. However, the reason may also be that Chinese activities were not perceived as an attractive topic for the Slovak audience, unlike the case with topics related to the Russian Federation. This is despite the fact that the protests in Hong Kong is one of the few topics, through which China has managed to penetrate the Slovak information space by the means of an advertorial in Trend magazine.<sup>180</sup> The hypothesis is also evidenced by the fact that only a minimum of commentaries from Slovak authors appeared in the analyzed content. The articles written by specific authors made up approximately 15 percent of all content relevant to the topic (47 articles in total).

These articles in some cases included the authors' insight and opinion on the topic. More often, however, comments and analyses reprinted from foreign news portals or research institutes were found. Particularly problematic were those that drew from Chinese or Russian sources, some of which are detailed below. Chinese sources quoted by the alternative outlets included the Global Times, Xinhua, and China Daily. Russian sources which were reprinted were RT, the Strategic Culture Foundation, Politikus, RBC, Iarex, and also the Czech localized version of Sputnik.

In 57 articles that were not based on reports from any of the Slovak news agencies, the alternative media drew from Russian sources in 27 cases, and Chinese in 7 cases. The finding may be based on a long-term trend of adopting Russian narratives in the

case of analyzed alternative media. In the case of Russian sources, it was primarily the Czech localized version of Sputnik, which in 10 cases appeared in Hlavné správy. In some cases, however, the outlet also used the above-mentioned Russian sources. In the case of Hlavný denník, five articles drew information from RT, while the other five articles were reprints from the Strategic Culture Foundation. When it comes to the Chinese sources, the most used source was the Global Times.

### IMAGE 8: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO HONG KONG IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE SLOVAK MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



Expectedly Carrie Lam, the Chief Executive of Hong Kong, was one of the most frequently mentioned actors. Specifically, she was mentioned in 58 articles, which represents 19 percent of all analyzed content. Carrie Lam, so to speak, personified the official position of Beijing which was continuously built on arguments of the sovereignty of the territory of China, of which Hong Kong is necessarily a part.

Beijing's second essential communicated position which appeared in the alternative media was a staunch objection to the interference of "external forces" in China's internal affairs. Similar statements were directed mainly at the US and the United Kingdom, and later, after the suspension of extradition treaties, also against Canada, Australia, and Germany. More problematic narratives were spread in connection with the US, especially if Russia also entered into the conversation. For example, Zhang Hanhui, the Chinese Ambassador to Moscow, directly warned against externally inciting and conducting unrest with the promise of "adequate retribution."<sup>181</sup> He did In her claim, she pointed to the "analogous behind-the-scenes influence of the protests in Moscow and Hong Kong," in which the 'media-propaganda machinery of foreign states' is supposed to participate. She also offered cooperation in the field of information to Beijing. According to her, Moscow was to be able to provide findings on the Western interference in the "internal affairs of Russia and China."<sup>182</sup>

Hlavné správy provided an interesting glimpse at sources it uses and the international connections among different platforms – the original statements were taken over from the Russian media RBC and Politikus, yet the article was also shared by České národní listy.<sup>183</sup> The texts included Chinese official rhetoric, which described the protests as manifestations of terrorism. Within this narrative, Hlavné správy took over an article from Russian media portal Iarex, devoted to the situation at the international airport in August 2019. The actors were described as "pro-American rioters." The key problem, however, was the incorrect comparison of the situation to the attacks of September 11, 2001. According to the article, Hong Kong protesters should, like US citizens, understand that the fight against terrorism is a top priority for China too. As such, they should comply in pursuit of their own "self-interest."<sup>184</sup>

In essence, MapInfluenCE research into alternative Slovak media reporting on Hong Kong discovered a strong meta-narrative of the "color revolution," followed by dubious comparisons to the Ukrainian maidan and the rhetoric of foreign forces influencing public opinion and directing the protests themselves. This was also the case of the Czech alternative media reporting. Protests were often described as an instrument of a hybrid war waged against the Chinese regime, which is to be supported by the US consulate (specifically Julie Eadeh) or the National Endowment for Democracy (NED) and its "extended arm" in the pro-democracy opposition of Hong Kong.<sup>185</sup> The underlying narrative referred to alleged support from the US, which intentionally used financial tools and violent strategies similar to those applied in Ukraine, Nicaragua, or Venezuela.

Marek Molnár, one of the authors writing for Hlavný denník, included the Hong Kong protests in the category of "viable protests" directed by the Pentagon. In his article, he tried to point out the similarities of several protest movements on a global scale.<sup>186</sup> He compared the situation in Hong Kong with the protests for the independence of Catalonia. This specific article can serve as an example of the willingness of alternative media to draw information from Russian sources. In this case, it was a transcript of a commentary by an author operating under the Strategic Culture Foundation. According to the 2020 US Department of State report, the Strategic Culture Foundation is directed by the Foreign Intelligence Service and is closely affiliated with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Russia.<sup>187</sup> In a sense, it can be regarded as a channel of the Russian state's interests and propaganda.

Molnár also focused on the draft of the US Hong Kong Human Rights and Democracy Act. However, while citing an article from the Chinese official media Global Times, he decided to extract and directly mention pro-China statements only. Chan Yung, pro-Beijing Vice-Chairman of the Democratic Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong, said: "the Americans will not 'free' Hong Kong" and spoke only of destabilizing measures. Tian Feilong, an Associate Professor at Beihang University's Law School in Beijing, said the appeals of protesters holding American flags and photos of Donald Trump only confirm that they are cooperating with external forces to jeopardize Hong Kong's fundamental interests.<sup>188</sup>

Wang Yi, Chinese Minister of Foreign Affairs, also called the US intervention in China's internal affairs a part of efforts to halt Beijing's progress and restart the Cold War. He expressed his views in an interview for RT, which was subsequently shared by Hlavný denník.<sup>189</sup>

Eugen Rusnák (real name Yevgeny Palcev who also contributed on the issue to Czech alternative media) also wrote one of his few articles for Hlavné správy on the topic of Hong Kong.<sup>190</sup> He took over the statement of Hector Constant Rosales, Permanent Representative of Venezuela to the United Nations in Geneva, which was originally published by the Chinese state agency Xinhua. Rosales criticized external interference in China's internal affairs.<sup>191</sup> According to him, Chinese action led to the stabilization of the situation. He also expressed the belief that "China will continue to realize the dream of a dignified and prosperous life for its people, contributing to the construction of a more just, equal and peaceful world."<sup>192</sup>

Hlavné správy has also argued that the reason for protests, apart from the already mentioned US support, is not the controversial bill itself. One article expressed a belief that the problem lays in the "unrestricted neoliberal economy" of Hong Kong, which led to economic uncertainty for the people in the city.<sup>193</sup> The above-mentioned chain of recycling the news among different platforms was again applied, when České národní listy literally took over the article from Hlavné správy.<sup>194</sup>

A common phenomenon found in the majority of texts focusing on Hong Kong was the technique of 'whataboutism', where not only alternative media but also representatives of the Chinese regime pointed to protests in Western states. The aim of the technique was to divert attention to other issues such as protests in Barcelona, the Yellow Vests protests in France, and later the unrest after George Floyd's death in the US. Carrie Lam talked directly about the so-called "double standard."<sup>195</sup> Before Emmanuel Macron's four-day visit to China in 2019, France and the EU were officially criticized by the Chinese Embassy in Paris. According to the statement, France is hypocritical and has to "show sympathy" for the Chinese actions in Hong Kong, as it has itself undergone violent demonstrations.<sup>196</sup>

Carrie Lam was followed by Donald Trump and Mike Pompeo in the number of mentions and statements, which only proves the tense nature of relations between China and the US and summarizes optics under which the communication of the situation in Hong Kong took place. With the US presidential election, Joe Biden's name expectedly began to be mentioned. In one of the articles on Hlavné správy, which was reprinted from the Czech version of Sputnik,<sup>197</sup> Biden was identified as a candidate of the American "deep state" group due to his "apparent dementia" and affectability.<sup>198</sup> The articles claimed that in the background of the decision-making on economic sanctions labeled "for Hong Kong" against Beijing is to be a certain gray eminence, which is trying to undermine the interests of China with its puppets (in this case Biden).

#### **XINJIANG: FROM THE PLIGHT OF UYGHURS TO US-CHINA CONTEST**

The media coverage of the Xinjiang issue during the monitored period has primarily focused on questions related to human rights violations and how this permeates into US-China relations. Overall, the coverage demonstrated little intricate analyses of the topic but rather focused on factual reports, most likely due to the low profile of the issue in Slovakia. Where reports engaged in a deeper analysis, these were predominantly commentaries or articles republished from other foreign media and translated into the Slovak language. There were few exceptions to this rule but in general, the Xinjiang issue was covered by Slovak media not as a main topic per se but rather in the wider context of the US-China relations and its potential to influence the relationship. Indeed, a large part of articles used the issue to discuss wider tensions between the two countries, or the topic was only mentioned alongside broader discussion about the future of the relationship.

The majority of analyzed articles were taken directly from Slovak press agencies and were reported in a neutral manner with few articles expressing a rather negative sentiment towards China. In many cases, the reports were limited to a few sentences informing the reader on what had happened rather than providing analyses of the topic. On occasions in which the article might have portrayed a more negative sentiment, this was usually due to direct citations of actors who expressed their strong opinions on the topic or re-published commentaries taken from foreign media. There has been little to no coverage by analyzed media that featured commentaries by local experts, most likely because the topic is often perceived as too distant or foreign for the Slovak audience.

Curiously, unlike with the other topics, articles on Xinjiang did not usually cite or republish Chinese-controlled media or actors with overwhelmingly positive attitudes towards China, besides a few exceptions. This mainly included articles that cited the Chinese authorities, mainly the spokesperson of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, while omitting any kind of counter-arguments or analyses.<sup>199</sup> At the same time, citing government officials and their justification for the measures in Xinjiang without any meaningful analyses sometimes directly contributed to perpetuating the Chinese narrative in otherwise rather neutral articles.

While at the beginning of the monitored period the coverage largely focused on the reporting of what is happening in Xinjiang, reports of detention camps, and Uyghur minority, the coverage gradually shifted towards framing the issue as a part of the Sino-US rivalry. Indeed, as the time proceeded, and the US began to mention potential sanctions for Beijing's conduct in Xinjiang, articles often referred to the trade war, US blacklist, and the Chinese tech companies such as Huawei and ZTE. Some articles eventually mentioned the Xinjiang issue only in passing while focusing on wider US-China tensions.<sup>200</sup>

Other important topics were the issues of torture and genocide that were mentioned, at least in passing, in the articles. Several articles could be classified as expressing a negative sentiment towards China, such as when it described the situation in Xinjiang as 'ethnic assimilation' and criticized Beijing for its misconduct. Most of the articles were published by Hlavný denník in a form of re-published commentaries written by Lawrence Franklin, who previously worked for former US Secretary of

### IMAGE 9: REPRESENTATION OF KEY TOPICS CONNECTED TO XINJIANG IN ANALYZED ALTERNATIVE SLOVAK MEDIA OUTLETS (2019-6/2021)



Defense Donald Rumsfeld, and is presently employed by the Gatestone Institute.<sup>201</sup> Hlavné Správy and Infovojna did not express negative sentiment to China in the analyzed dataset.

The mentions of various actors have been somewhat balanced, given the predominantly factual nature of the analyzed reports. Logically, members of the US and Chinese administrations such as Donald Trump, Xi Jinping, and Mike Pompeo were most prominently featured. Other frequent mentions included António Guterres, Dominic Raab, and Adrian Zenz, a German anthropologist focusing on Xinjiang and Uyghur issues.

### **TAIWAN: A STAR OUTSHINING BEIJING?**

When it comes to coverage of Taiwan, there is a significant difference in the coverage volume among the three analyzed media. While Infovojna barely touched the subject (only two articles were identified in the dataset), Hlavný denník mentioned the island-nation in 41 articles and Hlavné správy discussed Taiwan in 93 texts.

The discussions on China and Taiwan in the alternative media focused largely on the discussions of Taiwanese independence, One-China policy, military buildup in the Taiwan Strait, as well as on the two entities' relations with the US.

With a few exceptions, almost all the analyzed articles included at least a rudimentary discussion of the 'One-China Principle' and China-Taiwan relations.

Coronavirus was another prominent topic discussed in articles dealing with China and Taiwan. Most of the articles discussed the prospects of Taiwan's membership of the World Health Organization (WHO) and China's opposition to it, as well as Taiwan's initial communication with the WHO at the beginning of the new coronavirus outbreak.





Interestingly, articles discussing China and Taiwan portrayed China almost exclusively in a negative light. This was especially prominent in the articles discussing Taiwanese mask donations, which included quotes from some of the loudest critics of China that can be found in Slovakia. To illustrate, Hlavné správy, in one of their original articles, quoted Peter Osuský, Deputy-Chair of the Foreign Affairs Committee of the Slovak National Council, saying that mask donations from Taiwan were granted "thanks to R.L. Tseng, who is the Ambassador of Taiwan, even though he cannot be titled as such due to the unacceptable pressure of the red comrades from Beijing."<sup>202</sup>

Still, some articles could be seen as glorifying Chinese response to COVID-19, while at the same time recognizing the successful handling of the virus by Taiwan. Such was the case for example in the article published by Infovojna, which in November 2020 claimed: "Officially, the disease has been eradicated. It is hard to believe that at the beginning of the year, Wuhan was depopulated."<sup>203</sup>

As previously noted, most Taiwan-focused content in the alternative media was taken from mainstream press agencies. This was especially the case of Hlavné správy, where 67 percent originated from one of the two Slovak press agencies.

Nevertheless, Slovak alternative media also sourced their Taiwan-focused content from less traditional sources. Generally, these can be categorized into two groups – Russian state-backed content providers (i.e., Sputnik) and far-right media (e.g., Bre-itbart, or Fox News).

Articles sourced from the far-right outlets tended to exhibit a thoroughly negative perspective on China in relation to Taiwan. Two topics featured prominently here: China's militarization and Taiwan's relationship with WHO. On the other hand, articles sourced from Sputnik, exclusively republished by Hlavné správy, focused on Chinese and Taiwanese militarization efforts, as well as the triangular China-Taiwan-US relationship.

Hlavné správy managed to find and report positively on parallels between Chinese modern history and Slovakia's clerical-fascist past. In the article titled "Chiang Kai-shek and Tiso, Or China Is Not Slovakia," an anonymous author discussed how China and Slovakia deal with the historical memories concerning "two men born in October 1887," i.e. Jozef Tiso, the President of the Slovak Republic, a short-lived de facto puppet state of Nazi Germany between 1939 and 1945, and Chiang Kai-shek, the President of Republic of China, who relocated to Taiwan following the loss in the Chinese Civil War against Mao Zedong's Communists. According to the article, China is able to deal with its historical memory in a more desirable fashion than Slovakia as "in the big and 'undemocratic' China it is no secret that 'certain' Chiang Kai-shek lived and was the President of China. In small and democratic Slovakia, saying that 'certain' Tiso lived and was 'the first President of the Slovak Republic' is suspicious at best, and maybe even dangerous. While in China they are able to decently commemorate people who lived in the past and influenced in whatever way – from the point of view of Chinese Communist present 'negatively' – here in Slovakia it is utterly unnecessarily the other way around." The article was later on removed from the Hlavné správy website.

#### CONCLUSION

MapInfluenCE's analysis has revealed that the media discourse on China in Slovak alternative media in the selected period bears striking similarities to the discourse previously observed in mainstream media. In the course of investigating the China-focused narratives in Slovak alternative media, five topics were important in the discourse: 5G networks, investment, Hong Kong, Xinjiang, and Taiwan.

Not only were these topics the same in the mainstream and in analyzed problematic media, but most of the analyzed content was also sourced from the local press agencies and therefore was mostly factual and unbiased. Copying the neutral coverage provided by the press agencies allows the media to conceal articles exhibiting pro-Chinese narratives, disinformation, and conspiracies. However, in several cases, there was information taken over from official Chinese or Russian sources, uncovering the ruse.

The process of profiling into objective news stories can also be considered problematic in a sense that even originally neutral reports are delivered to a susceptible audience that is following the media precisely because of their past predominantly problematic content and alternative view. However, this may be considered a radical hypothesis and might require more detailed research in the future.

Most of the analyzed content was focused on the topic of protests in Hong Kong, while many of these articles were only citing news from Slovak press agencies. That can be explained by the fact that the analyzed websites are trying to get rid of the anti-system label or to join the media mainstream, as mentioned above. Also, Chinese activities are not perceived as an attractive topic for the Slovak audience, unlike the case with topics related to Russia.

Despite the fact that the analyzed media attempted to publish more unbiased information, they still often carried information cited from other problematic media. The Chinese sources quoted by the alternative outlets included the Global Times, Xinhua, and China Daily. Russian sources which were reprinted were RT (former Russia Today), the Strategic Culture Foundation, Politikus, RBC, Iarex, and the Czech localized version of Sputnik. Therefore, in addition to articles from Slovak press agencies, the content of the selected media also consists of content taken over from Russian state-owned and controlled media or from Kremlin-friendly organizations that can be considered extended hands of Russian interests.

In several cases, the Chinese officials were cited, mostly Carrie Lam, the Chief Executive of Hong Kong, who was one of the most frequently mentioned actors (along with President Xi Jinping, Chinese Foreign Ministry Spokesman Geng Shuang, and other Chinese officials). Lam personified the official position of Beijing on Hong Kong protests and represented the arguments of the unquestionable territorial integrity of China including Hong Kong. Another Beijing's essential communicated position which appeared in the analyzed media was an objection against the interference of "external forces" in China's internal affairs. Several articles included Chinese official rhetoric, which described the protests in Hong Kong as manifestations of terrorism. Also, the discussions on China and Taiwan in the analyzed media focused largely on the issue of Taiwanese independence, One-China Policy, military buildup in the Taiwan Strait, as well as on the two entities' relations with the US. The content related to the topic of Taiwan portrayed China almost exclusively in a negative light, but on the other hand, some of the articles glorified the Chinese response to COVID-19.

Even though Chinese sources were at times used by the analyzed alternative outlets, they did not feature prominently. A far more prominent source were Russian sources. This suggests that the Slovak alternative media scene is not particularly inclined to promote pro-China messaging (this does not imply that such articles do not appear, though).

However, a persistent trend was mentioning the conflict between the US and China, illustrated for instance by trade war, the restrictions on Chinese companies, putting Huawei on the US "blacklist" or the US relations with Taiwan. The articles discussing these topics were mostly favoring China. This suggests that for the Slovak alternative media China topic is being instrumentalized in their crusade against the US and the global West.

# **Authors**



Veronika Blablová is a Data Analyst of MapInfluenCE and China Observers in Central and Eastern Europe (CHOICE) at Association for International Affairs (AMO), Czech Republic.

💌 veronika.blablova@amo.cz



Peter Dubóczi is a MapInfluenCE Russia analyst in Slovakia and a Research Fellow at the Strategic Policy Institute (STRATPOL), Slovakia.

♥ @PDuboczi 🐱 duboczi.p@gmail.com



**Pavel Havlíček** is a Coordinator of Russia research, Russia analyst of MapInfluenCE and a Research Fellow at the Association for International Affairs (AMO), Czech Republic.

🔀 pavel.havlicek@amo.cz

♥ @KelemenBarbara



Ivana Karásková, Ph.D., is a Founder of MapInfluenCE, its China Analyst in Czechia and a Research Fellow at Association for International Affairs (AMO), Czech Republic.

**Barbara Kelemen** is a Research Fellow at the Central European

Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) in Bratislava, Slovakia.

🔀 ivana.karaskova@amo.cz 𝕊 @ivana\_karaskova



Michaela Ružičková is a Research Fellow at the Strategic Policy Institute (STRATPOL), Slovakia.

michaela.ruzickova@infosecurity.sk

🐱 barbarakelemenova@qmail.com

Matej Šimalčík is a MapInfluenCE China analyst in Slovakia and an Executive Director at the Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) in Bratislava, Slovakia.

🔀 simalcik@ceias.eu



The publication was prepared within the MapInfluenCE (previously known as ChinfluenCE) project, which maps China and Russia's influence in Central Europe, specifically Czechia, Poland, Hungary and Slovakia.

The internationally acclaimed project has utilized various tools such as media analysis to uncover who shapes China discourse in the Visegrád countries and why, the mapping of agenda-setters to reveal links between pro-China businessmen and local political elites, an analysis of changes in political parties' positions on China in the Czech and Hungarian Parliaments during the past 30 years, etc.

Through a variety of outputs (media articles, interviews, research reports, open as well as closed door events and briefings of stakeholders), MapInfluenCE broadens and shapes expert as well as public debates on China's influence and activities in the region of Central Europe. MapInfluenCE findings were widely quoted in European, US and Australian press, mentioned in e.g. the US-China Economic and Security Review Commission's 2018 Annual Report or the Reporters without Borders' report on the vulnerability of media, and presented at the European Parliament or to a delegation of US Congressmen and Senators. The original approach of MapInfluenCE set the tone and inspired journalists, think tankers and NGOs both within and outside of the region, who later conducted similar analyses on the media image of China and agenda-setting, drawing on the project's methodology and techniques.

The international team has published more than 20 policy and briefing papers in five different languages (English, Czech, Polish, Hungarian, and Slovak), authored articles or were quoted in numerous local as well as international media including Financial Times, Wall Street Journal, China Digital Times, Sydney Morning Herald, Politico Brussels Influence, Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, Diplomat, Neue Zürcher Zeitung, Le Temps, Radio Free Europe, etc.

MapInfluenCE is designed and run by the Association for International Affairs (AMO), a Prague-based foreign policy think tank and NGO.

### **FOLLOW US!**

www.mapinfluence.eu
 www.twitter.com/MapInfluenceEU
 @MapInfluenceEU a #MapInfluenCE

Association for International Affairs is a non-governmental non-profit organization founded in 1997. The mission of AMO has been to contribute to a deeper understanding of international affairs through a broad range of educational and research activities. Thanks to its activities in the Czech Republic and abroad and 20-year tradition, AMO has established itself as the Czech leading independent institution in the field of international relations and foreign policy.

### IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE ITS GOALS AMO STRIVES TO:

- → formulate and publish briefing, research and policy papers;
- → arrange international conferences, expert seminars, roundtables, public debates;
- → organize educational projects;
- → present critical assessments and comments on current events for local and international press;
- → create vital conditions for growth of a new expert generation;
- → support interest in international relations in the wider public domain;
- → cooperate with like-minded local and international institutions.

### AMO RESEARCH CENTER

The Research Center of the Association for International Affairs is a leading Czech think-tank, which is not bound to any political party or ideology. With its activities, it supports an active approach to foreign policy, provides an independent analysis of current political issues and encourages expert and public debate on related topics. The main goal of the Research Center is systematic observation, analysis and commentary on international affairs with special focus on Czech foreign policy.

## FOLLOW US!

- www.facebook.com/AMO.cz
  www.twitter.com/AMO\_cz
  www.youtube.com/AMOcz
  www.linkedin.com/company/AMOcz
- www.instagram.com/AMO.cz

## Footnotes

- 1 Rumena Filipova, "Chinese Influence in Bulgaria: Knocking on a Wide Open Door?," *China Observers in Central and Eastern Europe (CHOICE)*, September 8, 2019, https://chinaobservers.eu/chinese-influence-in-bulgaria-knocking-on-a-wide-open-door/.
- 2 Ivana Karásková, "How China Influences Media in Central and Eastern Europe," *The Diplomat*, November 19, 2019, https://thediplomat.com/2019/11/how-china-influences-media-in-central-andeastern-europe/.
- This comparative study of media reporting on China in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovakia considered more than 7,700 media outputs published from 2010 to mid-2017, providing unique insights to discourse formation and Chinese influence projection in these three countries. Accessible here: Ivana Karásková et al., *Central Europe for Sale: The Politics of China's Influence*, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2018), https://mapinfluence.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ AMO\_central-europe-for-sale-the-politics-of-chinese-influence.pdf. To complete the discourse analysis on China in the whole Central Europe, MapInfuenCE provided research of Polish media a year later, covering the period from 2010 to mid-2018. Accessible here: Agnieska Ostrowska, *Great Expectations: China's Image in Polish Mainstream Media and Among Elites*, (Warsaw: Centre for International Relations, 2019), https://mapinfluence.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/WIELKIE-NADZIEJE\_FINAL.pdf.
- 4 Ivana Karásková et al., *Careful or Careless? Debating Chinese Investment and 5G Technology in Central Europe*, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2021), https://mapinfluence.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_careful-or-careless\_A4\_web\_09-1.pdf.
- 5 Ivana Karásková et al., *China's propaganda and disinformation campaigns in Central Europe*, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2020).
- 6 Miloš Gregor and Petra Vejvodová, *Analýza manipulativních technik na vybraných českých serverech*, (Brno: Masarykova univerzita, 2016), https://otevrenenoviny.cz/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/ Vyzkumna\_zprava\_Analyza\_manipulativnich.pdf.
- 7 Jonáš Syrovátka et al., *Dezinformace jako byznys*, (Prague Security Studies Institute (PSSI), 2020), https://www.pssi.cz/download/docs/8207\_751-dezinformace-jako-byznys.pdf.
- 8 "Atlas konspirací," n.d., https://atlaskonspiraci.cz/Hlavn%C3%AD\_strana.
- 9 Jonáš Syrovátka et al., Dezinformace jako byznys, (Prague Security Studies Institute (PSSI), 2020), https://www.pssi.cz/download/docs/8207\_751-dezinformace-jako-byznys.pdf.
- 10 "Zoznam stránok so sporným obsahom," Konšpirátori.sk, n.d., https://konspiratori.sk/zoznamstranok.
- 11 *"Cena za (dez)informácie,*" Analytical Unit of Ministry of Defence of the Slovak Republic, April, 2021, https://www.mosr.sk/data/files/4364\_2021-k-01-cena-za-dezinformacie-recenzovane.pdf.
- 12 "České alternativní zpravodaje a blogy," Č*eský Rozhled*, n.d., http://www.ceskyrozhled.cz/odkazyaltermedia.
- 13 "Vím, že nic nevím...," *Nezávislé zprávy*, n.d., https://nezavisle-alternativni-zpravy.webnode.cz/.
- 14 Kristoffer Holt, "Alternative Media and the Notion of Anti-Systemness: Towards an Analytical Framework," *Media and Communication 6*, no. 4 (2018): 51.

- 15 Peter Dubóczi and Michaela Ružičková, "Prístup Slovenskej republiky k boju proti dezinformáciám," STRATPOL, 2021, https://stratpol.sk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/publi-pr%C3%ADstup-k-dezinfo. pdf.
- 16 Belén Carrasco Rodríguez, "Information Laundering in the Nordic-Baltic region," NATO Strategic Communications Centre of Excellence, December 10, 2020, https://stratcomcoe.org/publications/ information-laundering-in-the-nordic-baltic-region/26.
- 17 Karel Wolf, "Jakub Kalenský (Atlantic Council): Toxické weby 'perou' dezinformace. Pomáhají zakrýt jejich ruský původ," *Lupa*, December 7, 2020, https://www.lupa.cz/clanky/jakub-kalensky-atlantic-council-toxicke-weby-perou-dezinformace-pomahaji-zakryt-jejich-rusky-puvod/.
- 18 "Infosecurity.sk: Monitoring dezinformačnej scény (máj-august 2021)," *Infosecurity.sk*, October 21, 2021, https://infosecurity.sk/dezinfo/infosecurity-sk-monitoring-dezinformacnej-sceny-maj-august-2021-2/.
- 19 Similarweb.com was used to narrow down the most frequently visited websites. The selection of the media was conducted in early 2021, therefore, the lists used as primary reference might have altered and do not necessarily feature the selected media at the time of publishing of this research.
- 20 Sputnik Czech Republic, https://cz.sputniknews.com/.
- 21 Robert Břešťan, "Spolumajitel Parlamentních listů Michal Voráček: Je to vrcholně demokratické médium," *Hlídací pes,* June 10, 2019, https://hlidacipes.org/spolumajitel-parlamentnich-listu-michal-voracek-je-to-vrcholne-demokraticke-medium/
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 Ondřej Kundra, "Kdo tu píše pro Putna", *Respekt*, April 30, 2016, https://www.respekt.cz/ tydenik/2016/18/kdo-tu-pise-pro-putina
- 24 Ivana Karásková et al., Careful or Careless? Debating Chinese Investment and 5G Technology in Central Europe, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2021), https://mapinfluence.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/06/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_careful-or-careless\_A4\_web\_09-1.pdf.
- 25 "Oslabení diskriminačních opatření? Huawei se údajně zúčastní vytvoření sítě 5G v Británii," *Sputnik*, April 28, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190428/oslabeni-diskriminacnich-opatreni-huaweise-udajne-zucastni-vytvoreni-site-5g-v-britanii-9753480.html.
- 26 "Michael Žantovský: Babiš šel do CIA pro brífink. Byl oceněn za Nikulina, Skripala a Huawei, hádal expert ČT," *Parlamentní listy*, March 7, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Michael-Zantovsky-Babis-sel-do-CIA-pro-brifink-Byl-ocenen-za-Nikulina-Skripala-a-Huawei-hadal-expert-CT-573124?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 27 Jana Petrova, "Jede k nám Pompeo...," *Sputnik*, August 7, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200807/ jede-k-nam-pompeo-12318174.html.
- 28 "Michael Žantovský: Babiš šel do CIA pro brífink. Byl oceněn za Nikulina, Skripala a Huawei, hádal expert ČT," *Parlamentní listy*, March 7, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Michael-Zantovsky-Babis-sel-do-CIA-pro-brifink-Byl-ocenen-za-Nikulina-Skripala-a-Huawei-hadal-expert-CT-573124?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 29 "USA začaly vybírat 25% cla na čínské výrobky připlouvající po moři," *Sputnik*, June 1, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190601/usa-zacaly-vybirat-25-cla-na-cinske-vyrobky-priplouvajicipo-mori-10046448.html.
- 30 Maxim Rubčenko, "Takže válka. Jednání Číny a USA je odsouzeno k neúspěchu," *Sputnik*, January 18, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190118/cina-usa-obchod-jednani-8958302.html.
- Viktor Dorožnyj, "Češi nejsou protiameričtí, ale očekávají, že se Amerika změní," Sputnik, February
  1, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190201/verejne-mineni-zahranicni-politika-trump-9091014.
  html.

- 32 "Mluvčí Huawei v Německu: Americké tajné služby nás špehovaly, ale nic nenašly," Sputnik, March 15, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190315/mluvci-huawei-v-nemecku-americke-tajne-sluzby-nas-spehovaly-ale-nic-nenasly-9443453.html.
- 33 "Miloš Horký: Konec obchodní války USA a Číny, nebo finální 'střet civilizaci'?," Parlamentní listy, January 13, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Milos-Horky-Konecobchodni-valky-USA-a-Ciny-nebo-finalni-stret-civilizaci-566583?utm\_source=nm&utm\_ medium=xml.
- 34 "WSJ: Před 100 lety byly USA... Čínou," Sputnik, March 22, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews. com/20190322/wsj-pred-100-lety-byly-usa-cinou-9489737.html.
- 35 "Francie nezakáže investice Huawei do svých sítí 5G, říká ministr země," Sputnik, July 21, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200721/francie-nezakaze-investice-huawei-do-svych-siti-5g-rikaministr-zeme-12250852.html.
- 36 "Zeman: BIS a NÚKIB ohrozily ekonomické zájmy země. Čína může přijít s odvetou," Sputnik, January 10, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190110/Zeman-BIS-NUKIB-ohrozeni-CR-zajmy-Cinaodveta-8911234.html.
- 37 "Nemám informace, že by kradli. Mají víc patentů než kdokoli jiný. Víme, co si tajné služby vymýšlí. Švihlíková v živém vysílání nabourala verzi o čínské špionáži," *Parlamentní listy*, January 4, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Nemam-informace-ze-by-kradli-Maji-vic-patentunez-kdokoli-jiny-Vime-co-si-tajne-sluzby-vymysli-Svihlikova-v-zivem-vysilani-nabourala-verzi-ocinske-spionazi-565535.
- Jan Campbell, "Campbell: Boj prvních o naděje," Sputnik, February 9, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews. com/20190209/Campbell-boj-nadej-cina-huawej-cesko-usa-9159589.html.
- 39 "Schneider pálí ostrými: Ředitel BIS se stává bezpečnostním rizikem pro tento stát," Sputnik, October 3, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191003/schneider-pali-ostrymi-reditel-bis-se-stavabezpecnostnim-rizikem-pro-tento-stat-10769047.html.
- 40 "Proč odjíždějí nejlepší mozky z Kalifornie do Číny?," *Sputnik*, March 22, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews. com/20190322/alibaba-silicon-valley-cina-technologie-5g-9486711.html.
- 41 Václav Fiala, "'Z těch debat mi vstávají vlasy hrůzou.' Jindrák a Weiss přednášeli. Došlo i na hrozbu pro slovenskou územní celistvost," *Parlamentní listy*, May 27, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty. cz/arena/monitor/-Z-tech-debat-mi-vstavaji-vlasy-hruzou-Jindrak-a-Weiss-prednaseli-Doslo-i-na-hrozbu-pro-slovenskou-uzemni-celistvost-582933.
- Zuzana Koulová, "Analytik Štefec: Lžeme sami sobě. Rusko nás ohrožuje? Jak? Ano, je tu luxusní zboží, ale většina se na něj může jen dívat," *Parlamentní listy*, July 12, 2019. https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/rozhovory/Analytik-Stefec-Lzeme-sami-sobe-Rusko-nas-ohrozuje-Jak-Ano-je-tu-luxusni-zbozi-ale-vetsina-se-na-nej-muze-jen-divat-588695.
- 43 "Prezident Zeman totálně rozšlapal místopředsedu eurokomise: Je to úředník, nikdo ho nezvolil, k politice se nemá co vyjadřovat," *Parlamentní listy*, May 2, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/ arena/monitor/Prezident-Zeman-totalne-rozslapal-mistopredsedu-eurokomise-Je-to-urednik-nikdoho-nezvolil-k-politice-se-nema-co-vyjadrovat-580055?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- "Jan Campbell: Střípky paradoxů (1)," *Parlamentní listy*, February 17, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.
  cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jan-Campbell-Stripky-paradoxu-1-570849?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 45 "Ajajaj. Ošklivý karambol senátora Fischera na ČT24. Přišel tam i Mlynář. A vytáhl věci z dob V. Havla, na které by někdo raději zapomněl," *Parlamentní listy*, April 11, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Ajajaj-Osklivy-karambol-senatora-Fischera-na-CT24-Prisel-tam-i-Mlynar-A-vytahl-veci-z-dob-V-Havla-na-ktere-by-nekdo-radeji-zapomnel-577322?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.

- 46 "Petříček: Kauzu schůzky Babiše s čínským velvyslancem beru jako uzavřenou. Chceme se soustředit na pozitivní spolupráci," *Parlamentní listy*, January 10, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/ monitor/Petricek-Kauzu-schuzky-Babise-s-cinskym-velvyslancem-beru-jako-uzavrenou-Chceme-sesoustredit-na-pozitivni-spolupraci-566258?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 47 "Kolář senior varoval z Českého rozhlasu Lukašenka: Tentokrát to přehnal. Ukrajina Bělorusy inspiruje," *Parlamentní listy*, August 14, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/ Kolar-senior-varoval-z-Ceskeho-rozhlasu-Lukasenka-Tentokrat-to-prehnal-Ukrajina-Belorusyinspiruje-633612.
- 48 "Vondra: Nechceme u nás vojáky USA? Slabošství," *Parlamentní listy*, August 13, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Vondra-Nechceme-u-nas-vojaky-USA-Slabosstvi-633488.
- 49 "Analytik Macháček od Babiše vzkazuje do Číny: Dodržujte lidská práva, a pak můžeme nakupovat vaše technologie," *Parlamentní listy*, April 26, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/ Analytik-Machacek-od-Babise-vzkazuje-do-Ciny-Dodrzujte-lidska-prava-a-pak-muzeme-nakupovatvase-technologie-579191?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 50 Marek Korejs, "Poslanec ANO se zastal Jaromíra Jágra: Když v zahraničí řeknu ČR, devadesát procent lidí řekne jeho jméno," *Parlamentní listy*, May 18, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/ monitor/Poslanec-ANO-se-zastal-Jaromira-Jagra-Kdyz-v-zahranici-reknu-CR-devadesat-procentlidi-rekne-jeho-jmeno-581569.
- 51 Zuzana Koulová, "Bezpečnost se neměří kupeckými počty, vzkazuje poslankyně Černochová. Návštěva ministra Pompea nás ubezpečila, že jsme blízkými partnery," *Parlamentní listy*, August 25, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/rozhovory/Bezpecnost-se-nemeri-kupeckymi-poctyvzkazuje-poslankyne-Cernochova-Navsteva-ministra-Pompea-nas-ubezpecila-ze-jsme-blizkymipartnery-634725.
- 52 VK, "Huawei zahájí mezinárodní arbitráž proti České republice, odpověď NÚKIB je plivnutím do tváře čínského lidu a čínského průmyslu!," *Aeronet*, February 14, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/ huawei-zahaji-mezinarodni-arbitraz-proti-ceske-republice-odpoved-nukib-je-plivnutim-do-tvarecinskeho-lidu-a-cinskeho-prumyslu-odveta-postihne-i-ceske-podniky-v-cine/.
- 53 VK, "Válka proti Huawei: Polsko zatklo čínského šéfa Huawei, proti čínské firmě se postavila i česká SPD a pouze KSČM na bezpečnostním výboru sněmovny odmítla štvanici proti čínskému kolosu," Aeronet, January 11, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/valka-proti-huawei-polsko-zatklo-cinskehosefa-huawei-proti-cinske-firme-se-postavila-i-ceska-spd-a-pouze-kscm-na-bezpecnostnim-vyborusnemovny-odmitla-stvanici-proti-cinskemu-kolosu/.
- 54 VK, "Aeronet už v lednu varoval, že Huawei vytáhne proti ČR arbitrážní doložku a Peking to nyní po měsíci potvrdil oficiálně! Huawei dala české vládě do čtvrtka ultimátum a chce důkazy, jinak padne žaloba!," *Aeronet*, February 12, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/aeronet-uz-v-lednu-varoval-ze-huaweivytahne-proti-cr-arbitrazni-dolozku-a-peking-to-nyni-po-mesici-potvrdil-oficialne-huawei-dalaceske-vlade-do-ctvrtka-ultimatum-a-chce-dukazy-jinak-padne-zaloba/.
- 55 VK, "Brusel odmítá pokračovat v tažení proti Huawei, Jean-Claude Juncker se zastal čínského mobilního obra stejně jako Miloš Zeman!," *Aeronet*, April 29, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/bruselodmita-pokracovat-v-tazeni-proti-huawei-jean-claude-juncker-se-zastal-cinskeho-mobilniho-obrastejne-jako-milos-zeman-odveta-americkych-neoconu-prisla-okamzite-americky-namestek-ministra/.
- 56 VK, "VIDEO: Bašár Asad v rozhovoru pro VESTI označil Donalda Trumpa za výkonného ředitele firmy zvané USA, kterou vlastní a řídí zločinecké gangy s využitím stejných procesů řízení, jaké používali nacisté za II. světové války!," *Aeronet*, November 18, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/videobasar-asad-v-rozhovoru-pro-vesti-oznacil-donalda-trumpa-za-vykonneho-reditele-firmy-zvane-usakterou-vlastni-a-ridi-zlocinecke-gangy-s-vyuzitim-stejnych-procesu-rizeni-jake-pouzivali-naciste/.
- 57 Ivana Karásková et al., Careful or Careless? Debating Chinese Investment and 5G Technology in Central Europe, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2021), https://mapinfluence.eu/ wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_careful-or-careless\_A4\_web\_09-1.pdf.

- 58 Dmitrij Kosyrev, "Kde se nachází nejnebezpečnější pro USA město světa? Názor," Sputnik, September 1, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200901/kde-se-nachazi-nejnebezpecnejsi-pro-usa-mestosveta-nazor-12459656.html.
- 59 "Technologický pokrok Číny se už nedá zastavit. Názor," Sputnik, August 14, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200814/technologicky-pokrok-ciny-se-uz-neda-zastavit-12363566. html.
- 60 "Senátor Láska: Trochu zabolí, až nám Číňani vypnou internet a mobily," *Parlamentní listy*, October 13, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Senator-Laska-Trochu-zaboli-az-nam-Cinani-vypnou-internet-a-mobily-599376.
- 61 Markéta Gregorová, "Případ Huawei aneb Kdo vyhraje mocenský boj o 5G?," *Parlamentní listy*, February 15, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/profily/Bc-Marketa-Gregorova-129610/clanek/ Pripad-Huawei-aneb-Kdo-vyhraje-mocensky-boj-o-5G-101770.
- 62 "Spolupracovat s Čínou se vyplácí: Huawei slibuje Itálii tři miliardy investic a nová pracovní místa," *Sputnik*, July 16, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190716/spolupracovat-s-cinou-se-vyplacihuawei-slibuje-italii-tri-miliardy-investic-a-nova-pracovni-mista-10351526.html.
- 63 "Zeman: Nechat si diktovat, od koho brát nebo nebrat zemní plyn, znamená stát se nesvéprávnou zemí," *Sputnik*, May 16, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190516/zeman-nechat-si-diktovat-od-koho-brat-nebo-nebrat-zemni-plyn-znamena-stat-se-nesvepravnou-zemi-9911043.html.
- 64 Alicja Bachulska, How Moscow and Beijing Weave Tales for Warsaw: The Cases of Sputnik and China Radio International, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2022).
- 65 "Expert: Pokud ČR ztratí možnost spolupracovat s Huawei, nahradí ji Maďarsko nebo Slovinsko," Sputnik, January 14, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190114/cina-ekonomika-huawei-ceskospoluprace-8939103.html.
- 66 "'To mi pošlete. To nevím! To jsem neviděl.' Legrace v rozhlase: Přišel šéf čínské firmy, šlo i o koncentráky," *Parlamentní listy*, October 24, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/-To-mi-poslete-To-nevim-To-jsem-nevidel-Legrace-v-rozhlase-Prisel-sef-cinske-firmy-slo-i-okoncentraky-600685.
- 67 "Petr Brandtner: Fámy a fakta o 5G a Huawei," Parlamentní listy, November 13, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Petr-Brandtner-Famy-a-fakta-o-5G-a-Huawei-603234.
- 68 "O jakých 'dluhových pastech' mluvíte? Jde o zlepšení potenciálu nevyspělých zemí. Čína bránila Novou Hedvábnou stezku," Sputnik, October 31, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191031/ojakych-dluhovych-pastech-mluvite-jde-o-zlepseni-potencialu-nevyspelych-zemi-cina-branilanovou-10900241.html.
- 69 "Nová Hedvábná stezka pro Itálii. Proč jsou USA proti," Sputnik, March 13, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190313/nova-hedvabna-stezka-pro-italii-proc-jsou-usa-proti-9426129. html.
- 70 "Aliance Íránu a Číny: proč Zaríf přiletěl do Pekingu po nečekané návštěvě G7. Názor," Sputnik, August 26, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190826/aliance-iranu-a-ciny-proc-zarif-priletel-dopekingu-po-necekane-navsteve-g7-nazor--10584901.html.
- 71 "Prezident Zeman pojede na týdenní cestu do Číny," Parlamentní listy, April 14, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Prezident-Zeman-pojede-na-tydenni-cestu-do-Ciny-577725.
- 72 "Zeman vyslovil podmínky pro svoji cestu do Číny," Sputnik, January 16, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200116/zeman-vyslovil-podminky-pro-svoji-cestu-dociny-11262790.html.

- 73 "Zeman se v Číně zúčastní summitu k Hedvábné stezce," Parlamentní listy, April 17, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Zeman-se-v-Cine-zucastni-summitu-k-Hedvabnestezce-578101?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 74 Ivana Karásková et al., Careful or Careless? Debating Chinese Investment and 5G Technology in Central Europe, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2021), https://mapinfluence.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/06/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_careful-or-careless\_A4\_web\_09-1.pdf.
- 75 "Jiří Paroubek: Senzační vítězství," Parlamentní listy, February 25, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty. cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Senzacni-vitezstvi-571749?utm\_source=nm&utm\_ medium=xml.
- 76 Daniela Černá, "O medaile se nezajímám, ale generál Pavel si ji zaslouží. Evropan Rouček pak promluvil i o veřejně kojících matkách," Parlamentní listy, April 16, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty. cz/arena/rozhovory/O-medaile-se-nezajimam-ale-general-Pavel-si-ji-zaslouzi-Evropan-Roucek-pakpromluvil-i-o-verejne-kojicich-matkach-577900?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 77 "Publicista se podíval na Zemanovu cestu očima lidí, kteří jsou rozhořčeni, protože je rozhořčen pan Šídlo v ČT," Parlamentní listy, April 30, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/ Publicista-se-podival-na-Zemanovu-cestu-ocima-lidi-kteri-jsou-rozhorceni-protoze-je-rozhorcenpan-Sidlo-v-CT-579809.
- 78 Vladimír Franta, "Roman Blaško: Čína si vybrala Česko jako jednu z bran své hedvábné stezky. Co to znamená?," Sputnik, March 6, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200306/roman-blasko-cina-sivybrala-cesko-jako-jednu-z-bran-sve-hedvabne-stezky-co-to-znamena-11597706.html.
- 79 "Jiří Paroubek: Zvláštní posedlost BIS Rusy a Číňany," Parlamentní listy, November 11, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Zvlastni-posedlost-BIS-Rusya-Cinany-643675.
- 80 Zhang Jianmin, "Čínský velvyslanec exkluzivně pro PL bilancuje vzájemnou spolupráci," *Parlamentní listy*, December 31, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Cinsky-velvyslanec-exkluzivne-pro-PL-bilancuje-vzajemnou-spolupraci-608608.
- 81 Marek Korejs, "Čína se chová jak Josif Stalin, uhodil senátor ODS. Pak vytáhl nelichotivé statistiky vzájemného obchodu," *Parlamentní listy*, May 10, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/rozhovory/Cina-se-chova-jak-Josif-Stalin-uhodil-senator-ODS-Pak-vytahl-nelichotive-statistiky-vzajemneho-obchodu-580339?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 82 "ČT je nástroj politické opozice a zejména pražské kavárny.' Zeman zhodnotil události minulého týdne," *Sputnik*, October 11, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191011/ct-je-nastroj-politicke-opozice-a-zejmena-prazske-kavarny-zeman-zhodnotil-udalosti-minuleho-tydne-10807221.html.
- 83 "Zaorálek promluvil o kompetentnosti pražských radních v souvislosti se situací mezi Prahou a Čínou," *Sputnik*, October 13, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191013/zaoralek-promluvil-okompetentnosti-prazskych-radnich-v-souvislosti-se-situaci-mezi-prahou-a-cinou-10816955.html.
- 84 Vladimír Franta, "Jaromír Kohlíček a Jiří Kobza k Vystrčilovu odletu na Tchaj-wan...," Sputnik, August 30, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200830/jaromir-kohlicek-a-jiri-kobza-k-vystrcilove-odletuna-tchaj-wan-12448586.html.
- 85 "Zelení: Vyzýváme vládu k odstoupení z čínské sítě 17+1," Sputnik, January 18, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Zeleni-Vyzyvame-vladu-k-odstoupeni-zcinske-site-17-1-610416.
- 86 "NYT: Evropa se obává, že Čína k ní nepřišla jako ekonomický partner, ale jako dobyvatelka," Sputnik, March 24, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190324/nyt-evropa-se-obava-ze-cina-k-ni-neprislajako-ekonomicky-partner-ale-jako-dobyvatelka-9498552.html.

- 87 Dmitrij Kosyrev, "Vlčí válečníci, kníže Talleyrand a čínské kouzlo Evropě. Názor," Sputnik, May 4, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200504/vlci-valecnici-knize-talleyrand-a-cinske-kouzloevrope-nazor-11892471.html.
- 88 VK, "Bomba: Údajné čínské investice CEFC v ČR jsou ve skutečnosti úvěrový tunel za půl miliardy EUR od slovenské J&T Bank a Poštové banky!," *Aeronet*, April 30 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/ bomba-udajne-cinske-investice-cefc-v-cr-jsou-ve-skutecnosti-uverovy-tunel-za-pul-miliardy-eurod-slovenske-jt-bank-a-postove-banky-cinska-huaxin-cefc-ve-skutecnosti-v-cr-neinvestovala-anikorunu/.
- 89 VK, "Operace Krteček: Čínské mafiánské triády si udělaly z České republiky hotový Klondike a odnesla to dokonce i kultovní animovaná postavička pro děti!," *Aeronet*, May 8, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/operace-krtecek-cinske-mafianske-triady-si-udelaly-z-ceske-republikyhotovy-klondike-a-odnesla-to-dokonce-i-kultovni-animovana-postavicka-pro-deti-zatimcobabisovi-chlapci-zaklekavali-na-svatebcany/.
- 90 VK, "Čínská mafie se dostala až do okruhu financování volební kampaně Jiřího Drahoše!," Aeronet, May 10, 2019, https://aeronet.cz/news/cinska-mafie-se-dostala-az-do-okruhu-financovani-volebnikampane-jiriho-drahose-prezidentskemu-kandidatovi-lepsolidi-pristalo-na-volebnim-uctu-13--milionu-korun-od-osob-napojenych-na-tvrdika/.
- 91 VK, "Čína vyšle do Izraele forenzní experty, aby prozkoumali tělo čínského velvyslance, který zemřel za podivných okolností v noci ze soboty na neděli!," *Aeronet*, May 18, 2020, https://aeronet.cz/news/ cina-vysle-do-izraele-forenzni-experty-aby-prozkoumali-telo-cinskeho-velvyslance-ktery-zemrel-za-podivnych-okolnosti-v-noci-ze-soboty-na-nedeli-jen-dva-dny-predtim-odsoudil-vyroky-mikea-pompea/.
- 92 Zhang Jianmin, "Čínský velvyslanec exkluzivně pro PL k cestě prezidenta Zemana: 'Pásmo a stezka' přináší světu nové příležitosti," Parlamentní listy, April 25, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/ arena/monitor/Cinsky-velvyslanec-exkluzivne-pro-PL-k-ceste-prezidenta-Zemana-Pasmo-a-Stezkaprinasi-svetu-nove-prilezitosti-579102.
- 93 Zhang Jianmin, "Čínský velvyslanec exkluzivně pro PL bilancuje vzájemnou spolupráci," *Parlamentní listy*, December 31, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Cinsky-velvyslanec-exkluzivne-pro-PL-bilancuje-vzajemnou-spolupraci-608608.
- 94 Jiří Paroubek, "Jiří Paroubek: Kubera na Tchaj-wan, k čemu?," Parlamentní listy, October 31, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Kubera-na-Tchaj-wan-kcemu-601646.
- 95 Jiří Paroubek, "Jiří Paroubek: Velký týden fotbalistů Slavie," Parlamentní listy, April 15, 2021, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Velky-tyden-fotbalistu-Slavie-660715.
- 96 "Zbyněk Fiala: Čína je partner, nikoliv hrozba," Parlamentní listy, October 31, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Zbynek-Fiala-Cina-je-partner-nikolivhrozba-648860.
- 97 Elizabeth Bachman, *Black and White and Red All Over: China's Improving Foreign-Directed Media*, (CNA, 2020), https://www.cna.org/CNA\_files/pdf/DRM-2020-U-027331-1Rev.pdf.
- 98 "Schwarzenberg: Opravdu pozoruhodná zbabělost," Parlamentní listy, March 30, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Schwarzenberg-Opravdu-pozoruhodnazbabelost-575908?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.
- 99 "Jan Ziegler: Čína nám nesmí diktovat, nejsme její poskoci," Parlamentní listy, April 6, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jan-Ziegler-Cina-nam-nesmi-diktovatnejsme-jeji-poskoci-576726?utm\_source=nm&utm\_medium=xml.

- 100 "'Co to je!?' Babiš ostře zkritizoval CzechTrade, CzechInvest a CzechTourism," Sputnik, April 12, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190412/co-to-je-babis-ostre-zkritizoval-czechtrade-czechinvest-aczechtourism-9619458.html.
- 101 "Obchodní válka probíhá na dvou frontách, varoval Zeman. A vysvětlil, proč podporuje spolupráci mezi EU a Čínou," Sputnik, April 23, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190423/obchodni-valkaprobiha-na-dvou-frontach-varoval-zeman-a-vysvetlil-proc-podporuje-spolupraci-mezi-eu-9711294. html.
- 102 "V Hongkongu podle organizátorů proběhla nejmasovější protestní akce v historii (VIDEO)," *Sputnik*, June 17, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190617/v-hongkongu-podle-organizatoru-probehlanejmasovejsi-protestni-akce-v-historii-video--10165175.html.
- 103 "Protestující vtrhli do budovy parlamentu v Hongkongu," Sputnik, July 1, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190701/protestujici-vtrhli-do-budovy-parlamentu-vhongkongu-10258192.html.
- 104 "'To už dlouho není otázkou svobody projevu.' Čínská ambasáda odpověděla českým politikům ohledně situace v Hongkongu," Sputnik, August 18, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190818/ to-uz-dlouho-neni-otazkou-svobody-projevu-cinska-ambasada-odpovedela-ceskym-politikumohledne-10543758.html.
- 105 "Naší povinností je zastat se těch, kteří bojují za svobodu: Senát se ohradil proti čínskému zásahu v Hongkongu," Sputnik, December 4, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191204/nasi-povinnosti-je-zastat-se-tech-kteri-bojuji-za-svobodu-senat-se-ohradil-proti-cinskemu-zasahu-v-11057252.html.
- 106 "Svatopluk Otava: Političtí fanatici ničí i sport, říkají si přitom novináři," *Parlamentní listy*, August 4,
  2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Svatopluk-Otava-Politicti-fanatici-nicii-sport-rikaji-si-pritom-novinari-591281.
- 107 Jiří Paroubek, "Jiří Paroubek: Politologické kutilství a lži některých novinářů," Parlamentní listy, September 14, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Politologicke-kutilstvi-a-lzi-nekterych-novinaru-636956.
- 108 Jan Campbell, "Campbell: Smrt svých kolegů vojáků nezapomene žádný ruský důstojník, velitel a prezident," *Sputnik*, October 16, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20191016/campbell-smrt-svych-kolegu-vojaku-nezapomene-zadny-rusky-dustojnik-velitel-a-prezident-10831805.html.
- 109 "Odborník: V Hongkongu je stále více vnějších příznaků 'barevné revoluce'," Sputnik, August 15, 2019, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20190815/odbornik-v-hongkongu-je-stale-vice-vnejsich-priznakubarevne-revoluce-10530554.html.
- 110 Veronika Blablová, *China's International Broadcasting: A Case Study of the CGTN* (Brno, Czech Republic: Masaryk University, 2021), https://is.muni.cz/th/ks7vb/dp\_Blablova.pdf.
- 111 Barbora Richterová and Tomáš A. Nový, "Proboha, Šámalová a ČT lžou!' Realita Hongkongu očima čtenáře. FOTO a VIDEO, které TV neodvysílá. Rabování, kokain, zapálení auta s řidičem a rozkazy v angličtině," *Parlamentní listy*, November 20, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/-Proboha-Samalova-a-CT-lzou-Realita-Hongkongu-ocima-ctenare-FOTO-a-VIDEO-ktere-TVneodvysila-Rabovani-kokain-zapaleni-auta-s-ridicem-a-rozkazy-v-anglictine-604067.
- 112 Jack Nicas, "Apple Removes App That Helps Hong Kong Protesters Track the Police," October 9, 2019, *New York Times*, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/09/technology/apple-hong-kong-app.html.
- 113 "Zahradil ví, kdo nejvíce těží z evropských dluhopisů: Do 30 let je bude mít v trezorech a pak to bude opravdu zajímavé," *Sputnik*, July 23, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200723/zahradil-vi-kdo-nejvice-tezi-z-evropskych-dluhopisu-do-30-let-je-bude-mit-v-trezorech-a-pak-to-bude-12257826.html.
- 114 "Bojkot zimní olympiády v Číně? Senát má plán, jak bojovat proti porušování lidských práv v této zemi," Sputnik, June 10, 2021, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20210610/bojkot-zimni-olympiady-v-cinesenat-ma-plan-jak-bojovat-proti-porusovani-lidskych-prav-v-teto-zemi-14798260.html.

- 115 VK, "Ještě hlouběji! Český Senát jako poslušný psík amerických páníčků znovu prorazil dno vlastní důstojnosti!," *Aeronet*, May 19, 2021, https://aeronet.cz/news/jeste-hloubeji-cesky-senat-jako-poslusny-psik-americkych-panicku-znovu-prorazil-dno-vlastni-dustojnosti-presne-mesic-po-vyzve-americke-vladni-komise-k-bojkotu-olympiady-v-cine-v-roce-2022/.
- 116 Zhang Jianmin, "Čínský velvyslanec exkluzivně pro PL: Hongkongská otázka neumožňuje 'dvojí měřítko'," Parlamentní listy, November 22, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/ Cinsky-velvyslanec-exkluzivne-pro-PL-Hongkongska-otazka-neumoznuje-dvoji-meritko-604278.
- 117 "Čínský velvyslanec pro PL: Hongkong je čínským Hongkongem. Tamní záležitosti jsou vnitřními záležitostmi Číny. Není možné dovolit žádné cizí zemi, aby...," *Parlamentní listy*, August 11, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Cinsky-velvyslanec-pro-PL-Hongkong-je-cinskym-Hongkongem-Tamni-zalezitosti-jsou-vnitrnimi-zalezitostmi-Ciny-Neni-mozne-dovolit-zadne-cizi-zemi-aby-592133.
- 118 Michal Polák and Michael Švec, "Česká 'delegace' strávila tři dny na Krymu. Opakované porušení našich zákonů, zlobí se Ukrajina," *Aktuálně*, July 30, 2018, https://zpravy.aktualne.cz/domaci/ceskadelegace-stravila-tri-dny-na-krymu-opakovane-poruseni/r~a1a1022a93db11e8915e0cc47ab5f122/.
- 119 Zuzana Černá, "Senátor píše tajně čínskému velvyslanci. 'Nebudu se z toho nikomu zpovídat,' říká," *Seznam Zprávy*, November 6, 2019, https://www.seznamzpravy.cz/clanek/senator-pise-tajne-cinskemu-velvyslanci-nebudu-se-z-toho-nikomu-zpovidat-rika-82151.
- 120 Jaroslav Doubrava, "Mandaríni s barevnými demonstranty zatočí," *Parlamentní listy*, August 28, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/profily/Jaroslav-Doubrava-3252/clanek/Mandarini-s-barevnymidemonstranty-zatoci-97395.
- 121 Vladan Vaněk, "Čínské výhružky svědčí o absenci respektu k demokracii a evropským hodnotám, stojí v prohlášení senátora Czernina a poslance Bundestagu Thomase Erndla," *tomasczernin.cz*, September 2, 2020, http://www.tomasczernin.cz/media/?clanek=27649.
- 122 "Senátor Czernin: Komunisti se nemění a jsou všude stejní," *Parlamentní listy*, June 5, 2021, h ttps://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Senator-Czernin-Komunisti-se-nemeni-ajsou-vsude-stejni-666442.
- 123 Tereza Šídlová, "Diplomacii zřejmě dostanou Piráti. Zájem má muž, který vyháněl Rusy z Dukovan," *Seznam Zprávy*, October 26, 2021, https://www.seznamzpravy.cz/clanek/diplomacii-zrejme-dostanoupirati-zajem-ma-muz-ktery-vyhanel-rusy-z-dukovan-178771.
- 124 "Lipavský (Piráti): Jak ochráníme čínské občany, kteří jsou režimu nepohodlní?," *Parlamentní listy*, December 3, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Lipavsky-Pirati-Jakochranime-cinske-obcany-kteri-jsou-rezimu-nepohodlni-646056.
- 125 Dominik Duka, "Dominik Duka: Otevřený dopis profesoru Hořejšímu," *Parlamentní listy*, February 19, 2021, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Dominik-Duka-Otevreny-dopis-profesoru-Horejsimu-654556.
- 126 Jiří Paroubek, "Jiří Paroubek: Senát užiteční idioti, nebo...," Parlamentní listy, May 21, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Senat-uzitecni-idiotinebo-624670.
- 127 Jiří Paroubek, "Jiří Paroubek: Nepokoje ve Spojených státech," *Parlamentní listy*, May 29, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jiri-Paroubek-Nepokoje-ve-Spojenychstatech-625635.
- 128 "Jan Campbell," *První zprávy*, n.d., https://www.prvnizpravy.cz/profily/jan-campbell/.
- 129 Jan Campbell, "Jan Campbell: To slunce se má...," Parlamentní listy, July 28, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jan-Campbell-To-slunce-se-ma-590529.
- 130 Jan Campbell, "Jan Campbell: Když ne 2017, tak 2024, " *Parlamentní listy*, October 21, 2019, http://vasevec.parlamentnilisty.cz/komentare/jan-campbell-kdyz-ne-2017-tak-2024.

- 131 Lukáš Valášek, "Literární noviny šíří čínskou propagandu. A Česko jim dává statisícové dotace," *Aktuálně.cz*, November 4, 2021, https://zpravy.aktualne.cz/domaci/v-akademii-ved-pracujeodsouzeny-antisemita-porada-konferenc/r~d5e89e2a359611ec8fa20cc47ab5f122/.
- 132Jan Campbell, "Jan Campbell: Na cestě ke střetu (3)," Parlamentní listy, February 28, 2021,<br/>https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jan-Campbell-Na-ceste-ke-stretu-3-655567.
- 133 "MUDr. Vít Kaňkovský, Máme diplomatické nástroje, jak vyjádřit svůj nesouhlas s tím, co se děje v Číně," *Parlamentní listy*, December 6, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/profily/MUDr-Vit-Kankovsky-32340/clanek/Mame-diplomaticke-nastroje-jak-vyjadrit-svuj-nesouhlas-s-tim-co-se-deje-v-Cine-100022.
- 134 "Gregorová (Piráti): Zákaz zboží vyrobených nucenou prací dětí nebo Ujgurů," Parlamentní listy, March 13, 2021, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Gregorova-Pirati-Zakazzbozi-vyrobenych-nucenou-praci-deti-nebo-Ujguru-657077.
- 135 "Nebezpečí jaderné konfrontace se v poslední době značně zvýšilo, uvedl Lavrov," Sputnik, July 10, 2022, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200710/nebezpeci-jaderne-konfrontace-se-v-posledni-dobe-znacne-zvysilo-uvedl-lavrov-12204689.html
- 136 "Město Peking se musí vyhradit proti takovému chování," *Parlamentní listy*, October 10, 2019, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/zpravy/tiskovezpravy/Mesto-Peking-se-musi-vyhradit-protitakovemu-chovani-599094.
- 137 "Čínská ambasáda v Praze: Na světě existuje pouze jedna Čína a Tchaj-wan je její součástí," Parlamentní listy, June 9, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Cinskaambasada-v-Praze-Na-svete-existuje-pouze-jedna-Cina-a-Tchaj-wan-je-jeji-soucasti-626794.
- 138 "Čínský velvyslanec poprvé promluvil. Pouze na PL: Smrt Kubery? Zde je můj názor. Řekl mi, že Tchaj-wan možná přehodnotí," *Parlamentí listy*, May 19, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/zpravy/ kauzy/Cinsky-velvyslanec-poprve-promluvil-Pouze-na-PL-Smrt-Kubery-Zde-je-muj-nazor-Rekl-mize-Tchaj-wan-mozna-prehodnoti-624396.
- "Jan Vítek: Vystrčil překročil červenou čáru, Peking žádá omluvu," *Parlamentní listy*, September 20,
  2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/nazory-a-petice/Jan-Vitek-Vystrcil-prekrocil-cervenoucaru-Peking-zada-omluvu-637746.
- "Jindrák z Hradu: Většina Čechů nestojí za názorem Pavla Novotného. Jako kdyby nějaký bavorský starosta oslavoval sudetské henleinovce," *Parlamentní listy*, December 12, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Jindrak-z-Hradu-Vetsina-Cechu-nestoji-za-nazorem-Pavla-Novotneho-Jako-kdyby-nejaky-bavorsky-starosta-oslavoval-sudetske-henleinovce-605533.
- 141 "Kohoutek (SPD): Co až si Číňani v odvetě za Vystrčila plácnou se Sudetáky? Kňučet? Pozdě,"
  Parlamentní listy, September 9, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/
  Kohoutek-SPD-Co-az-si-Cinani-v-odvete-za-Vystrcila-placnou-se-Sudetaky-Knucet-Pozde-636497.
- 142 Jiří Kobza, "Co kdyby Číňané odvetou za Vystrčila jednali s 'prezidentem' Posseltem?," *Parlamentní listy*, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/profily/Mgr-Jiri-Kobza-105275/clanek/Co-kdyby-Cinane-odvetou-za-Vystrcila-jednali-s-prezidentem-Posseltem-105370.
- 143 "Jako sudetáci! Vystrčil na Tchaj-wan: Okamura učinil přirovnání. Mrazivé," *Parlamentní listy*, August, 8, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/arena/monitor/Jako-sudetaci-Vystrcil-na-Tchaj-wan-Okamura-ucinil-prirovnani-Mrazive-634259.
- 144 "Herman (KDU-ČSL): Do vztahů dvou suverénních zemí nemá právo zasahovat nikdo další," Parlamentní listy, June, 9, 2020, https://www.parlamentnilisty.cz/politika/politici-volicum/Herman-KDU-CSL-Do-vztahu-dvou-suverennich-zemi-nema-pravo-zasahovat-nikdo-dalsi-626800.
- 145 "Komentář Jana Lipavského: Čína i WHO selhaly při řešení světové pandemie. Jak bude Česko reagovat na jejich pochybení?," *Pirátská strana*, April 24, 2020, https://www.pirati.cz/tiskove-zpravy/ lipavsky-cina-who-pochybyly.html.

- 146 "Čínský expert: Flirtování s Tchaj-wanem poškozuje dlouhodobou spolupráci České republiky a Číny. Doplatí na to zcela jednoznačně a výrazně hlavně Česko," *CZ24 News*, June 14, 2020, https://cz24.news/cinsky-expert-flirtovani-s-tchaj-wanem-poskozuje-dlouhodobou-spolupraciceske-republiky-a-ciny-doplati-na-to-zcela-jednoznacne-a-vyrazne-hlavne-cesko/.
- 147 Alena Novotná, "Čí jsme lokaji? Jak se v Česku dělá zahraniční politika," *Sputnik*, May 21,
  2021, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200521/ci-jsme-lokaji-jak-se-v-cesku-dela-zahranicni-politika-11975054.html.
- 148 It is an independent expert commission composed of teachers, historians, doctors, journalists and social network specialists, which evaluates the reported sites according to five criteria (i.e. the presence of fraudulent and charlatan content; the presence of disinformation and false propaganda; the presence of conspiracy theories; the presence of extremist content; non-respect of the basic principles of journalistic ethics; see https://konspiratori.sk/kriteria).
- 149 According to the decrypted communication, Marian Kočner (currently being prosecuted for the murder of journalist Ján Kuciak and his fiancée), who communicated intensively with the editorin-chief of this portal and was even supposed to finance it, also had an influence on the content of Hlavné správy (see Vladimír Šnídl, "Kočner v Threeme: Pozri, čo som vymyslel, zajtra to vyjde v Hlavných správach," *Denník N*, August 16, 2019, https://dennikn.sk/1556123/kocner-v-threeme-pozri-co-som-vymyslel-zajtra-to-vyjde-v-hlavnych-spravach.
- 150 Konšpirátori.sk, "Súd prikázal Konšpirátorom dočasne stiahnuť web hlavnespravy.sk zo svojej databázy," *Denník N*, March 3, 2020, https://dennikn.sk/blog/1775813/sud-prikazal-konspiratorom-docasne-stiahnut-web-hlavnespravy-sk-zo-svojej-databazy/.
- 151 Until then, Hlavný denník had a relatively high rating in the database, namely 7.9 points out of 10 (the higher on the scale, the more problematic the website).
- 152 Konšpirátori.sk, "Web, ktorý straší peklom a tvrdí, že očkovanie zabíja, musí ísť dole zo zoznamu Konšpirátorov," *Denník N*, August 12, 2021, https://dennikn.sk/blog/2501424/web-ktory-strasi-peklom-a-tvrdi-ze-ockovanie-zabija-musi-ist-dole-zo-zoznamu-konspiratorov/.
- 153 Filip Struhárik, "hlavnydennik.sk (7.9)," Konšpirátori.sk, https://konspiratori.sk/stranka/850.
- 154 "infovojna.sk (8.8)," Konšpirátori.sk, https://konspiratori.sk/stranka/749.
- 155 Ivana Karásková et al., China's Sticks and Carrots in Central Europe: The Logic and Power of Chinese Influence, (Prague: Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2020), https://mapinfluence.eu/ wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Chinas-Sticks-and-Carrots-in-Central-Europe\_policy-paper\_-1.pdf; Matej Šimalčík, "Covid-19 and China's changing propaganda tactics in Slovakia," in Ivana Karásková et al., China's propaganda and disinformation campaigns in Central Europe, (Prague, Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2020).
- For a discussion of this trend, see Ivana Karásková et al., *Careful or Careless? Debating Chinese Investment and 5G Technology in Central Europe*, (Prague, Association for International Affairs (AMO), 2021), https://mapinfluence.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_carefulor-careless\_A4\_web\_09-1.pdf.
- 157 Vladimír Šnídl, "Propagandu pre Hlavné správy píše Rus, ktorý sa chodí radiť do agentúry Kremľa," *Denník N*, November 14, 2018, https://dennikn.sk/1288348/propagandu-pre-hlavne-spravy-pise-rusktory-sa-chodi-radit-do-agentury-kremla-odomknute/.
- 158 "aeronet.cz (9.7)," Konšpirátori.sk, https://konspiratori.sk/stranka/665.
- 159 "otevrisvoumysl.cz (8.9)," Konšpirátori.sk, https://konspiratori.sk/stranka/734.
- 160 Imrich Kovačič, "Mayová nepodľahne tlaku USA a povolí Huawei," *Hlavný denník*, April 29, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/04/29/mayova-nepodlahne-tlaku-usa-a-povoli-huawei/.

- 161 "Čínski predstavitelia varujú Nemecko, vylúčenie firmy Huawei z budovania 5G siete povedie k prehodnoteniu využívania výhod prístupu na čínsky trh pre európske spoločnosti," *Hlavné správy*, June 3, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/cinski-predstavitelia-varuju-nemecko-vylucenie-firmyhuawei-budovanie-5g-sieti-povedie-prehodnoteniu-vyuzivania-vyhod-pristupu-cinsky-trh-europske-spolocnosti/2183942.
- 162 Branislav Fábry, "Žltá hrozba' z Číny alebo zbytočná hystéria v USA?," *Hlavné správy*, 5 August, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/zlta-hrozba-ciny-zbytocna-hysteria-usa/2251978.
- 163 Imrich Kovačič, "Huawei zahajuje pilotný 5G projekt v Rusku," *Hlavný denník*, June 9, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/06/09/huawei-zahajuje-pilotny-5g-projekt-v-rusku/.
- 164 Zuzana Vargová, "Kvôli Trumpovi sa Európa ocitla v ošemetnej situácii! Stav je bezútešný, informuje nemecký denník," *Hlavný denník*, June 10, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/06/10/kvoli-trumpovi-sa-europa-ocitla-v-osemetnej-situacii-stav-je-bezutesny-informuje-nemecky-dennik/.
- 165 Imrich Kovačič, "Stíhačka F-35 je riadená čínskymi čipmi. Hystéria okolo 'špionáže' Huawei sa rozpadá," *Hlavný denník*, June 17, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/06/17/stihacka-f-35-je-riadena-cinskymi-cipmi-hysteria-okolo-spionaze-huawei-sa-rozpada/.
- 166 Zuzana Vargová, "Kvôli Trumpovi sa Európa ocitla v ošemetnej situácii! Stav je bezútešný, informuje nemecký denník," *Hlavný denník*, June 10, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/06/10/kvoli-trumpovi-sa-europa-ocitla-v-osemetnej-situacii-stav-je-bezutesny-informuje-nemecky-dennik/.
- 167 Marek Molnár, "Britský krok k zákazu Huawei zo siete 5G ukazuje, že USA diktujú britskej zahraničnej politike," *Hlavný denník*, July 7, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/07/07/britskykrok-k-zakazu-huawei-zo-siete-5g-ukazuje-ze-usa-diktuju-britskej-zahranicnej-politike/.
- 168 "(Aktualizované) Zvláštne súvislosti medzi koronavírusom a 5G sieťou nepravda," *Hlavný denník*, March 2, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/03/02/zvlastne-suvislosti-medzi-koronavirusom-a-5g-sietou/.
- 169 Robert Barca, "5G technológia nemá nič spoločné s novým koronavírusom," AFP Fakty, April 9, 2020, https://fakty.afp.com/5g-technologia-nema-nic-spolocne-s-novym-koronavirusom?fbclid=IwAR2M X5iQqxxBKN5k7hkLbOfbNaDwWU8w4ipU3gB6×b5MFjqaYjCYdzZdHKw.
- 170 Timotej Dudka, "Česko a Spojené štáty budú spolupracovať na zabezpečení 5G sietí," *Hlavný denník*, May 7, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/05/07/cesko-a-spojene-staty-budu-spolupracovatna-zabezpeceni-5g-sieti/.
- 171 "Šéf americkej diplomacie Pompeo začal v ČR cestu po krajinách strednej Európy," *Hlavné správy*, August 11, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/sef-americkej-diplomacie-pompeo-zacal-cr-cestukrajinach-strednej-europy/2258800.
- 172 "Američané chtěli v Praze podepsat memorandum o 5G, Češi to odmítli," *Infovojna*, August 13, 2020, https://www.infovojna.sk/article/americane-chteli-v-praze-podepsat-memorandum-o-5g-cesi-to-odmitli.
- 173 Bruno Čanády, "Prezidentka Čaputová dostala vo Varšave frčku a s ňou celé Slovensko," *Hlavné správy*, September 4, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/prezidentka-caputova-dostala-vo-varsave-frcku-snou-cele-slovensko/1875066.
- 174 "Proti komu okrem Iránu bol vedený americký útok na Solejmáního? Je odpoveď Iránu nevyhnutná?," *Hlavné správy*, January 6, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/proti-komu-okrem-iranu-bol-vedeny-americky-utok-solejmaniho-odpoved-iranu-nevyhnutna/2006870.
- 175 Tom Fowdy, "Črtá sa rusko-čínska vojenská aliancia. Mal by Washington prepadnúť panike? (Tom Fowdy)," *Hlavný denník*, October 24, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/10/24/crta-sa-rusko-cinska-vojenska-aliancia-mal-by-washington-prepadnut-panike-tom-fowdy/.

- 176 Tom Fowdy, "USA zúria kvôli čínsko-európskej dohode. Je jasné, kto je v roku 2020 porazený (Tom Fowdy)," *Hlavný denník*, January 1, 2021, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2021/01/01/usa-zuria-kvolicinsko-europskej-dohode-je-jasne-kto-je-v-roku-2020-porazeny-tom-fowdy/.
- 177 Ivan Brožík, "'Majdan bol biznis' hovorí ukrajinský prokurátor 'USA na ňom zarobili 50 miliárd'," *Hlavný denník*, December 29, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/12/29/majdan-bol-biznishovori-ukrajinsky-prokurator-usa-na-nom-zarobili-50-miliard/.
- 178 "Naozaj chce Pompeo reálne pomôcť africkým krajinám?," *Hlavné správy*, February 23, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/naozaj-chce-pompeo-realne-pomoct-africkym-krajinam/2062005.
- 179 On nature of Chinese lending practices and associated problems see e.g. Anna Gelpern et al. How China lends: A rare look into 100 debt contracts with foreign governments. March 2021, Peterson Institute for International Economics, Kiel Institute for the World Economy, Center for Global Development, and AidData at William & Mary. https://www.aiddata.org/publications/how-chinalends.
- 180 Matej Šimalčík, Ivana Karásková and Barbara Kelemen, Čínska prítomnosť na Slovensku: medzi cukrom a bičom, AMO, August, 2020, s. 24, http://www.amo.cz/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/ Mapinfluence-policy-paper-SK.pdf.
- 181 "Odborník: V Hongkongu je stále viac vonkajších príznakov 'farebnej revolúcie'," *Hlavné správy*, August 16, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/odbornik-hongkongu-stale-vonkajsich-priznakovfarebnej-revolucie/1854807.
- 182 Gabriel Gačko, "Čínsky veľvyslanec v Moskve varoval Američanov a Angličanov pred ďalším podnecovaním nepokojov v Hongkongu," *Hlavné správy*, August 14, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy. sk/cinsky-velvyslanec-moskve-varoval-americanov-anglicanov-pred-dalsim-podnecovanimnepokojov-hongkongu/1852921.
- 183 Gabriel Gačko, "Čínsky veľvyslanec v Moskve varoval Američanov a Angličanov pred ďalším podnecovaním nepokojov v Hongkongu," Českí národní listy, August 14, 2019, https://ceske-narodnilisty.estranky.cz/clanky/prispevky/cinsky-velvyslanec-v-moskve-varoval-americanov-a-anglicanovpred-dalsim-podnecovanim-nepokojov-v-hongkongu.html.
- 184 "Kto ťaží z majdanu v Honkongu," *Hlavné správy*, August 19, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/tazimajdanu-honkongu/1857526.
- 185 Igor Kratochvil, "Hongkong stredobodom pozornosti globálnej moci a boja ideológií," *Hlavné správy*, August 22, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/hongkong-stredobodom-pozornosti-globalnej-mociboja-ideologii/1861626.
- 186 "Joker v masových protestoch 2019 (Vladimír Prochvatilov)," *Hlavný denník*, November 9, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/11/09/joker-v-masovych-protestoch-2019-vladimir-prochvatilov/.
- 187 "GEC Special Report: August 2020 Pillars of Russia's Disinformation and Propaganda Ecosystem," U.S. Department of State, August, 2020.
- 188 Marek Molnár, "Global Times: USA nikdy 'neoslobodia' Hongkong, iba destabilizujú Čínu," Hlavný denník, September 9, 2019, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2019/09/09/usa-nikdy-neoslobodia-hongkong-iba-destabilizuju-cinu/.
- 189 Diana Zaťková, "Peking: Nechceme sa stať ďalšími USA!," Hlavný denník, January 1, 2021, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2021/01/02/peking-nechceme-sa-stat-dalsimi-usa/.
- 190 Vladimír Šnídl, "Odomkli sme: Propagandu pre Hlavné správy píše Rus, ktorý sa chodí radiť do agentúry Kremľa," *Denník N*, November 14, 2018, https://dennikn.sk/1288348/propagandu-prehlavne-spravy-pise-rus-ktory-sa-chodi-radit-do-agentury-kremla-odomknute/.

- 191 Eugen Rusnák, "Agentúra Xinhua: 'Venezuela razantne odsudzuje akty násilia v Hong Kongu a vyjadruje podporu vláde a ľudu Čínskej ľudovej republiky'," *Hlavné správy*, September 11, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/agentura-xinhua-venezuela-razantne-odsudzuje-akty-nasilia-v-hongkongu-vyjadruje-podporu-vlade-ludu-cinskej-ludovej-republiky/1881716.
- "Hong Kong affairs are China's internal affairs that should not be interfered in: diplomat," *Xinhua*, March 8, 2021 (updated), http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2021-03/08/c\_139794946.htm.
- 193 Igor Kratochvil, "Hongkong stredobodom pozornosti globálnej moci a boja ideológií," *Hlavné správy*, August 22, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/hongkong-stredobodom-pozornosti-globalnej-mociboja-ideologii/1861626.
- 194 Igor Kratochvil, "Hongkong stredobodom pozornosti globálnej moci a boja ideológií," *Hlavné správy*, August 22, 2019, https://ceske-narodni-listy.estranky.cz/clanky/prispevky/hongkong-stredobodompozornosti-globalnej-moci-a-boja-ideologii.html.
- 195 "V otázke národnej bezpečnosti sa používa dvojaký meter, tvrdí Lamová," *Hlavné správy*, June 2, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/otazke-narodnej-bezpecnosti-sa-pouziva-dvojaky-meter-tvrdi-lamova/2183522.
- 196 "Čínska ambasáda v Paríži odsúdila reakciu EÚ na Hongkong ako 'trestuhodnú'," *Hlavné správy*, October 7, 2019, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/cinska-ambasada-v-parizi-odsudila-reakciu-eu-nahongkong-ako-trestuhodnu/1910482.
- 197 Ivan Danilov, "Čínské loďstvo bude zlikvidováno za 72 hodin. To jsou plány Bidenova týmu. Názor," Sputnik ČR, August 31, 2020, https://cz.sputniknews.com/20200831/cinske-lodstvo-budezlikvidovano-za-72-hodin-to-jsou-plany-bidenova-tymu-12454891.html.
- 198 "Čínske loďstvo bude zlikvidované za 72 hodín. To sú plány Bidenovho tímu," *Hlavné správy*, August 31, 2020, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/cinske-lodstvo-bude-zlikvidovane-za-72-hodin-to-su-plany-bidenovho-timu/2279246.
- 199 Diana Zaťková, "Západ bude ľutovať svoje hlúpe a arogantné správanie, pritvrdzuje Čína," *Hlavný denník*, March 23, 2021, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2021/03/23/zapad-bude-lutovat-svoje-hlupe-a-arogantne-spravanie-pritvrdzuje-cina/.
- 200 Mario Martinka, "Pentagon označil 20 spoločností, ktoré poskytujú pomoc čínskej armáde," *Hlavný denník*, June 26, 2021, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/06/26/pentagon-oznacil-20-spolocnosti-ktore-poskytuju-pomoc-cinskej-armade/.
- 201 Mario Martinka, "Čínsky stroj na genocídu v Sin-tiangu (Lawrence A. Franklin)," Hlavný denník, August 15, 2020, https://www.hlavnydennik.sk/2020/08/15/cinsky-stroj-na-genocidu-v-sin-tiangulawrence-a-franklin/.
- 202 "Slovensko prevzalo 200-tisíc rúšok, ktoré poslal Taiwan. Osuský: 'Žiaľ, ich zástupca sa kvôli svetovými demokraciami akceptovanému nehoráznemu diktátu červených súdruhov z Pekingu nemôže titulovať ako veľvyslanec'," *Hlavné správy*, April 21, 2021, https://www.hlavnespravy.sk/ slovensko-prevzalo-200-tisic-rusok-ktore-poslal-taiwan-oskusky-zial-zastupca-sa-kvoli-svetovymi-demokraciami-akceptovanemu-nehoraznemu-diktatu-cervenych-sudruhov-pekingu-nemoze-titulovat/2131418.
- 203 "Video: Wuchanský paradox," *Infovojna*, November 9, 2020, https://www.infovojna.sk/article/video-wuchansky-paradox.